
 

Please contact Gill Ferguson on  0151 471 7395 or e-mail 
gill.ferguson@halton.gov.uk  for further information. 
The next meeting of the Committee is on Thursday, 1 March 2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Chief Executive 
 

ITEMS TO BE DEALT WITH  
IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
 

PART 1 
 
 

Item Page No 
  
1. MINUTES 
 

 

2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST   
 

 

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
personal or personal and prejudicial interest which they have in 
any item of business on the agenda no later than when that item 
is reached and, with personal and prejudicial interests (subject 
to certain exceptions in the Code of Conduct for Members), to 
leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting on the item. 
 
 
 

 
 

3. RESOURCES PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) TREASURY MANAGEMENT 2011/12 3RD QTR 
OCTOBER-DECEMBER   

 

1 - 8 

Executive Board Sub Committee 
 
Thursday, 9 February 2012 10.00 a.m. 
The Board Room - Municipal Building, 
Widnes 

Public Document Pack



 
 
  
Item Page No 
  

 

4. CHILDREN YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) PROCUREMENT OF THE LICENCE FOR THE 
SCHOOL INFORMATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS   

 

9 - 61 

5. NEIGHBOURHOOD, LEISURE AND SPORT PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) LEISURE AND RECREATION SERVICES SCALE OF 
CHARGES   

 

62 - 72 

 PART II 
 In this case the Board has a discretion to exclude the 
press and public and, in view of the nature of the business 
to be transacted, it is RECOMMENDED that under Section 
100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, having been 
satisfied that in all the circumstances of the case the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information, the press and public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 & 5 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act. 
  
 
 

 

6. PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) DEBT WRITE OFF - ST HELENS CANAL REMEDIAL 
WORKS   

 

73 - 76 

7. CHILDREN YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES PORTFOLIO 
 

 

 (A) POSITIVE YOUTH PROVISION WITHIN HALTON - 
ITEM WITHDRAWN   

 

 

 
 
 
In accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Act the Council is 
required to notify those attending meetings of the fire evacuation 
procedures. A copy has previously been circulated to Members and 
instructions are located in all rooms within the Civic block. 



 
REPORT TO:   Executive Board Sub-Committee 
 
DATE:    9 February 2012 
 
REPORTING OFFICER:  Operational Director – Finance 
 
PORTFOLIO:   Resources 
 
TITLE:    Treasury Management 2011/12 
     3rd Quarter: October - December 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to update the Sub-Committee about 

activities undertaken on the money market as required by the Treasury 
Management Policy. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDED:  That the report be noted. 
 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Economic Background 
 

• Indicators suggested that the economy was at a higher risk of 
recession; 

• Weak demand on the high street had forced retailers to offer generous 
discounts; 

• The labour market deteriorated, but at a slower pace than in previous 
months; 

• Public borrowing had fallen in line with fiscal plans, but forecasts for 
future deficits had been revised up;  

• Inflation began to fall; 

• The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) restarted quantitative easing 
(QE) and indicated its intention to sanction more; 

• Gilt yields reached new lows, in spite of a recovery in equity prices and 
growing fiscal fears;  

• Euro-zone policymakers failed to make progress towards a solution to 
the region’s debt crisis. 

 
Activity indicators suggested that the economic recovery ground to a 
complete halt in the third quarter and output may even have 
contracted. The weighted output balance of the CIPS/Markit surveys in 
October fell to a level that has been consistent in the past with a 
contraction in GDP. The output balance then broadly held at that level 
in November. 

Agenda Item 3aPage 1



The CIPS surveys exclude the retail sector and the latest news from 
the high street has been poor, reflecting the pressures on households’ 
finances. According to the official figures, retail sales volumes (ex. 
petrol) rose by 0.9% m/m in October but then fell by 0.7% in 
November, despite deep discounts offered by retailers. Timelier survey 
and anecdotal evidence suggests that, by and large, spending was 
weaker than usual in December. 

Conditions in the labour market have also continued to deteriorate, 
albeit at a slower pace than in previous months. The Labour Force 
Survey measure of employment fell by 63,000 in the three months to 
October, a slower pace of deterioration than seen in the second 
quarter. The number of employees plummeted by 252,000 – but this 
was partly offset by a 166,000 rise in self-employment. Rises in the 
timelier claimant count measure of unemployment also became more 
modest – it increased by ‘just’ 2,500 on the previous month in October 
and 3,000 in November. Despite this moderating trend, employment 
surveys have continued to point to further job losses ahead. 

The housing market has continued to recover, albeit slowly. The 
number of mortgage approvals for new house purchase rose from 
51,200 in September to 52,900 in November. And according to the 
Nationwide, house prices were 0.6% higher in December than they 
were in September. Nonetheless, banks began the process of passing 
on the rise in their wholesale funding costs, reflecting the adverse 
effects of the euro-zone debt crisis, to consumers during the quarter. 

The latest trade data tentatively suggested that net trade was on 
course to make a positive contribution to GDP growth in the third 
quarter. The trade in goods and services deficit narrowed from £4.3bn 
in September to £1.6bn in October (although the monthly deficit figures 
have been volatile recently). Some survey measures have also pointed 
to a recent pick-up in demand for exports as the new export orders 
balance of the CIPS manufacturing survey rose from 49.0 in November 
to 53.5 in December. At that level, it points to a quarterly rise in the 
volume of manufactured goods exports of around 2%. 

Despite much weaker than expected GDP growth, the latest public 
finance figures showed that borrowing is coming in comfortably below 
last year’s totals. Spending growth has slowed, while growth in tax 
receipts is still holding up reasonably well. And if the trend so far this 
fiscal year is sustained, borrowing will total about £122bn in 2011/12, 
equal to what the Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) was 
forecasting until it revised its forecast to £127bn in its Economic and 
Fiscal Outlook that accompanied the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement. 
The OBR also revised up its forecasts for borrowing in future years to 
reflect its much weaker expectations for GDP growth. 

Inflation fell in the third quarter with CPI inflation falling from its recent 
peak of 5.2% in September to 5.0% in October and 4.8% in November. 
It probably fell further in December as past rises in energy prices a 

Page 2



year ago dropped out of the annual comparison. Inflation remained on 
track to fall further in the coming months. Oil prices, for example, 
remained largely range-bound between $105pb and $115pb, while 
petrol prices began to fall. Meanwhile, the continued weakness of 
indicators of money supply growth and firms’ pricing intentions, as well 
as the still large degree of spare capacity in the economy, suggested 
that underlying inflationary pressures are still very weak. 

Granted, measures of inflation expectations remained quite high – the 
Bank of England’s measure of households’ inflation expectations for 
the year ahead only edged down from 4.2% to 4.1% in Q3. But 
considerable slack in the labour market should continue to prevent the 
translation of these expectations into stronger earnings growth. Indeed, 
the annual rate of average earnings growth including bonuses rose 
was just 2% in October (a slight rise from 1.9% in September). Real 
pay growth has therefore remained negative. 

The MPC restarted quantitative easing (QE) in October and announced 
£75bn of additional gilt purchases would be completed by February. 
The MPC also looked primed to sanction further purchases in Q4. The 
November Inflation Report forecast projected CPI inflation to be well 
below the 2% target in two years’ time, while speeches by certain 
members of the Committee (such as Martin Weale and Paul Fisher) 
suggested that they thought there was a strong case for more 
purchases. 

Largely reflecting this dovish stance, markets expectations for official 
interest rates continued to fall during Q3, helping government bond 
yields to drop to new record lows (the 10-year gilt yield fell from 2.43% 
to 2% at the end of the year). The drop may also have reflected 
growing demand for safe-havens – while bond markets thought that 
default risk on UK government bonds had grown during the quarter, 
they viewed that risk to be lower than in many other major economies, 
including Germany. 

In contrast to the UK, the economic data improved in the US in Q3. The 
manufacturing ISM strengthened in November and December to a level 
consistent in the past with annual GDP growth of 2.5% to 3.0%. Non-
farm payrolls also increased by 112,000 in October and 100,000 in 
November. 

In the euro-zone, policymakers made little progress to deal with the 
region’s debt crisis. The economic data in the euro-zone also continued 
to weaken – while the composite PMI rose in November in December, 
it remained below the theoretical “no-change” level of 50 and on past 
form was consistent with quarterly falls in GDP of almost 1%. A deep 
recession in the euro-zone remains a key risk to the outlook for the UK 
economy. 

3.2 Economic Forecast 
 
The following forecast has been provided by Sector: 

Page 3



 

 
The Sector central forecast is for the first increase in bank rate to be in 
September 2013. PWLB and bond yields remain extremely 
unpredictable at present. We are experiencing exceptional levels of 
volatility which are highly correlated to political developments (or lack 
of them) in the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. 

SUMMARY OUTLOOK 

Sector has undertaken a review of their interest rate forecasts as a 
result of two major events: - 

1. The decision by the MPC to expand quantitative easing by a further 
£75bn. This tranche is due to be completed in February 2012. This 
decision had an immediate effect of depressing gilt yields at the long 
end of the curve.  It also clearly underlined how concerned the MPC is 
about the prospects for UK growth and that recession is now a much 
greater concern than inflation. 

2. The marked deterioration of growth prospects in the US, EU and UK, 
especially as concerns have further increased over Greece and the 
potential fall out from their debt situation.  This has led in turn to a 
further increase in safe haven flows into UK gilts since our last interest 
rate forecast (16.8.11) which have depressed gilt yields and pushed 
PWLB rates to even lower levels. 

These developments had left short term forecasts for PWLB rates 
markedly out of line with actual rates.  They also substantially pushed 
back expectations of the timing of the eventual start of increases in 
Bank Rate gilt yields and PWLB rates. 

In summary, concerns around a slow down in prospects for GDP 
growth in the western world are as follows: -- 

US 
• Despite better than expected data releases in the latter stages of 2011, 

weak GDP growth and lingering threat of a jobless recovery remain 
• Fed unlikely to increase central rate until mid 2013 
• Latest Fed Twist operation unlikely to save US economy from weak 

growth in the shorter term 
• Near exhaustion of major fiscal and monetary remedies 

Page 4



• Political gridlock ahead of Nov 2012 Presidential elections for major 
fiscal action 

• New President unlikely to make significant impact on the US economy 
in 2013 

• Housing market still fraught and banks face rising losses on mortgages 
which will lead in turn to restricted supply of credit to the economy; little 
hope of the housing market turning around in the near future 
 
EU 

• Sovereign debt crisis is morphing into an EU banking crisis where 
some weaker banks will need semi-nationalisation to cope with a major 
write down of Greek debt, resulting in an increase in government debt 
levels.  This in turn could threaten (e.g.) the French AAA rating and 
lead to an increase in concerns for the size of the French debt to GDP 
ratio. Currently all Eurozone sovereign ratings under review for 
possible downgrade. 

• EU economy now heading into recession in 2012; increasing lack of 
supply of bank credit plus major fall in consumer and business 
confidence will inhibit economic growth 

• High risk of Italy and Spain being fully dragged into peripheral 
sovereign debt crisis. Current proposed rescue measures are 
insufficient to cope with such a prospect. 

• The latest proposals on tighter fiscal unity have been poorly received 
by markets. There have been scant signs of positive impact on 
equities, bond yields or expectations for Eurozone growth. 

• German elections in 2013 getting ever closer; German voters hostile to 
bailing out Greece and other weak peripherals 
 
UK 

• 40% of UK GDP dependent on overseas trade; high correlation of UK 
growth to US and EU GDP growth means that the UK economy may 
only barely escape recession in the next two years 

• Consumers have paid down total debt to income ratio from 180% in 
2008 to 160%.  OBR forecasts March 2011 for GDP growth of 2.5% in 
2012 and 3.0% in the following three years are predicated on an 
increase in consumer spending and borrowing taking that ratio back to 
175% by 2015 i.e. an increase of £570bn in debt.  This is highly 
unlikely given current consumer sentiment, job fears, high inflation 
eroding disposable incomes, small or no pay increases, mortgagors 
coming off initial cheap fixed rate deals onto higher SVR rates etc. 

• Little sign of a coordinated strategy for the private sector to finance a 
major expansion of infrastructure investment to boost UK growth 

• Little sign of a major increase in exports to boost UK growth 
• QE2 likely to be too little too late to boost UK growth significantly in the 

near term 
 
CHINA 

• Increasing concerns that efforts to gently slowdown the economy to 
cool inflation could lead into a hard landing.    

Page 5



 

3.3 Short Term Rates 
  
 The bank base rate remained at 0.50% throughout the quarter. 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4   Longer Term Rates 
 

  Oct Nov Dec 
 Start Mid End Mid End Mid End 

 % % % % % % % 
1 Year (Market) 1.72 1.74 1.76 1.79 1.82 1.84 1.87 
10 Year (PWLB) 3.55 3.70 3.63 3.26 3.28 3.22 3.11 
25 Year (PWLB) 4.53 4.45 4.42 4.11 3.97 4.13 4.03 

 
 Market rates are based on LIBOR rates published at the middle and 

end of each month. PWLB rates are for new loans based on principal 
repayable at maturity.  

 
3.5 Temporary Borrowing/Investments 
 
 Turnover during period 
 

 No. Of Turnover 
 Deals Struck £m 
Short Term Borrowing 2 5.000 
Short Term Investments 34 99.660 

  
 Position at Month End 
 

 Oct Nov Dec 

 £m £m £m 
Short Term Borrowing 23.00 23.00 23.00 
Short Term Investments 61.95 62.00 64.91 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Oct Nov Dec 

 Start Mid End Mid End Mid End 
 % % % % % % % 
Call Money (Market) 0.62 0.62 0.62 0.63 0.63 0.63 0.63 
1 Month (Market) 0.69 0.69 0.70 0.73 0.74 0.76 0.77 
3 Month (Market) 0.95 0.96 0.99 1.01 1.04 1.06 1.08 

Page 6



 Investment Income Forecast 
 
 The forecast income and outturn for the quarter is as follows: 
 

 Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative Cumulative 
 Budget Actual Target Rate Actual Rate 
 £’000 £’000 % % 

Quarter 1 19 34 0.46 1.09 
Quarter 2 37 218 0.47 1.16 
Quarter 3 64 449 0.50 1.27 
Quarter 4 90    

 
The actual rate exceeds the benchmark rate. This is due to the 
management of cash deposits around the planned delivery of the 
capital programme and most notably the acquisition of land for the 
Mersey Gateway project. 

 
The target rate is based on the 7-day LIBID rate. For comparison 
purposes the 1 month average rate was 0.60%, 3 month rate was 
0.89% and the 6 month rate was 1.18%.  

 
3.6 New Borrowing 
 

Sector’s 25 year PWLB target rate for new long term borrowing for the 
quarter started at 5.00% and ended at 4.20%. Due to the overall 
financial position and the underlying need to borrow for capital 
purposes (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), new external 
borrowing of £20.0m was undertaken from the Market and PWLB as 
follows:    

 

Source Value (£m) Rate (%) 

Market 5.00 0.85 

Market 5.00 1.40 

PWLB 10.00 2.24 

  
 It is anticipated that no further borrowing will be undertaken during this 

financial year.  
 
3.7 Policy Guidelines 
 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2011/12, 
which includes the Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the 
Council on 2nd March 2011.  It sets out the Council’s investment 
priorities as being: 

• Security of Capital; 

• Liquidity; and 

• Yield 

Page 7



The Council will also aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on 
investments commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity.   

 In the current economic climate and the heightened credit concerns it is 
considered appropriate to keep investments short term with a 
maximum duration of 3 months.  

 
This limit will apply to all entities on the suggested Sector Credit List 
with the following exceptions: 
 
1. UK Government and related entities such as Local Authorities. 

Their suggested duration limit will remain at 5yrs. 
 
2. UK semi-nationalised institutions (Lloyds / RBS). We continue to 

view the current significant UK ownership of these entities as 
providing significant comfort to investors. 

 
During the financial year to date the Council has operated within the 
treasury limits and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and in compliance with the 
Council’s Treasury Management Practices. 
 
There approved limits within the Annual Investment Strategy were not 
breached during the quarter ended 30th September 2011.  

 
4.0 DEBT RESCHEDULING 
 
4.1 No debt rescheduling was undertaken during the quarter. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 
5.1 There are no direct implications, however, the revenue budget and 

capital programme support the delivery and achievement of all the 
Council’s priorities. 

 
6.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 
6.1 The main risks with Treasury Management are security of investment 

and volatility of return. To combat this, the Authority operates within a 
clearly defined Treasury Management Policy and annual borrowing and 
investment strategy, which sets out the control framework  

 
7.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 
7.1 There are no issues under this heading. 
 
8.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 
8.1 There are no background papers under the meaning of the Act. 
 

Page 8



REPORT TO: 
 

Executive Board Sub Committee 

DATE: 
 

9th February 2012 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Strategic Director – Children and Enterprise 
 

PORTFOLIO: 
 

Children and Young People 

SUBJECT: 
 

Procurement of the Licence for the School 
Information Management systems 
 

WARD(S) 
 

Borough-wide 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  To seek agreement to enter into a contract without seeking three 
electronic quotations via The Chest in order to comply with 
procurement standing order 4.1 for contracts less than £173,934.  
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That Procurement SO 1.8.2(e) and 4.1 be 
waived in respect of the School Information Management 
System Licence (SIMs) thereby allowing the licence to be 
procured from the existing supplier for financial year April 2012 
to March 2013. 

 
3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
3.1 In previous years the SIMS licence has been procured on a yearly 

basis from the supplier, Capita.  This is a practice that has continued 
for a number of years without challenge.  It is also the process 
adopted by other Authorities within the UK. 
 

3.2 At the end of 2010 the British Educational Communications and 
Technology Agency (Becta) issued a letter advising Councils that 
the continued practice of simply paying for the licence on an annual 
basis may contravene Council Standing Orders, as we are not 
challenging the market place for best value. 
 

3.3 In response to the letter and report produced by Becta the 
Department wrote to all local authorities in May 2011 to confirm the 
intention to deliver a new Framework Agreement via the 
Government Procurement Service (GPS) to allow all Local 
Authorities to purchase the SIMS licence.    
 

3.4 The Information Management and Learning Services (IMLS) 
Framework has now progressed to the tender evaluation stage, with 
tender responses being received on 19th December 2011. The 
award of the Framework is therefore still expected to occur before 

Agenda Item 4aPage 9



the end March 2012. 
 

3.5 The Department have just received notification that IMLS 
Framework award date will not support the annual MIS licence 
renewal of contracts (predominantly SIMS) for the period April 2012 
to March 2013. However it will facilitate re-procurement activities 
that would take effect in April 2013 and provides the lead time for 
LAs to develop their requirements and conduct the mini competition 
tendering in a timely manner. 
 

3.6 The Department are encouraging all LAs to actively use the planned 
new IMLS Framework, once it has been awarded, in order to 
conduct procurements in respect of 2013/14 contracts onwards. The 
new Framework is specifically designed around educational 
requirements, to increase choice and competition, enable legal 
procurements, and drive best value for money; and avoid LAs 
spending the time and expense of running their own OJEU 
competitions.  The suppliers and their solutions will be assessed for 
quality, technical and financial assurance and will be subjected to 
contract management throughout the lifetime of the Framework.  
The Framework will also benefit from a “help desk” type service for 
schools and LAs use when constructing their mini competitions 
which will offer advice. 
  

3.7 On this basis the Authority would like to remain with the existing 
SIMs Licence provider for 2012/13 and then use the new IMLS 
Framework to procure the licence for 2013/14. 
 

3.8 It is therefore requested that a waiver to Standing Orders to allow 
the purchase of the software licence for the financial year 2012/13 is 
granted to allow time for the new IMLS Framework to be 
established. 
 

4.0 BUSINESS CASE 
 

4.1 Value for Money 
 
The price for the licence is in line with other Council’s charges for 
the same service.  The local authority can currently purchase the 
licence at a lower rate than the private sector can purchase the 
same licence for. 
 

4.2 Transparency 
 
This contract will be subject to issues of confidentiality and be open 
to scrutiny under the Freedom of Information Act, through the 
internal and external audit process and through the Policy & 
Performance Board scrutiny arrangements.  
 

4.3 Propriety and Security 

Page 10



 
The usual integrity clauses will be built into the contract document 
and only staff with a need to know will have information about the 
contract. 
 

4.4 Accountability 
 
This would remain with the Operational Director awarding the 
contract. 
 

4.5 Position of the Contract under the Public Contracts Regulations 
2006 
 
The new IMLS Framework fully complies with the Public Contract 
Regulations 2006 
 

5.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 
 

None 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 There are exceptional circumstances, namely that the new IMLS 
Framework that is being established by the Department is not yet 
ready for use. The new Framework is specifically designed around 
educational requirements, to increase choice and competition, 
enable legal procurements, and drive best value for money; and 
avoid LAs spending the time and expense of running their own 
OJEU competitions.   
 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 

7.1 Children & Young People in Halton  
 

This project will enable the schools and the Local Authority to have 
access to the Information Management System to track pupil data 
and ensure all young people in Halton have access to education. 
 

7.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton  
 

This project will enable the schools in Halton to have access to the 
Information Management System to track pupil data and ensure all 
young people in Halton have access to education. 
 

7.3 A Healthy Halton 
 

The Information Management System holds details of all young 
people and includes information on attendance, ethnicity, and 
vulnerable pupils. 
 

7.4 A Safer Halton  

Page 11



 

The Information Management System tracks pupil attendance and 
identifies pupils vulnerable pupils 
 

7.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 

None identified. 
 

8.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

8.1 Running a separate procurement exercise to the one being 
undertaken by the Department would incur additional expense and 
would not present value for money. 
 

9.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

9.1 Agencies awarded a contract would be expected to comply with the 
Council policies relating to Ethnicity and Cultural Diversity as well as 
promoting inclusion. 
 

10.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

Document 
 

Place of Inspection 
 

Contact Officer 

Letter to Director of Children’s 
services detailing outcome of 
the Becta Review 

Copy attached in 
Appendix 1 

Katrina Hall 

Report of the Becta review 
into Value for money of 
Management Information 
Systems 

Copy attached in 
Appendix 2 

Katrina Hall 

The IMLS Invitation to Tender 
document 

Grosvenor House 
 

Katrina Hall 

 
 

 

Page 12



Appendix 1 – Letter to Directors of Children’s 

Services 

Letter 29 October 
2010 to Directors of Childrens Services.pdf

 

Appendix 2 – Becta Report on MIS  

Becta Report on MIS 
v 4 FINAL.pdf

 

Page 13



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

29 October 2010 

To All Directors of Children’s Services 

By email 

Dear Colleague 

School Management Information Systems and Value for Money 2010  

You may recall that Terry Piggott wrote to you in December last year regarding the 
changing landscape in regard to Information Management needs of both schools and local 
authorities.  Terry also highlighted the continuing concerns being expressed by both local 
authorities and the supply side in relation to the operation of the MIS marketplace and the 
specific procurement obligations that fell to local authorities. 

He confirmed that Becta felt it appropriate to conduct an independent market review 
primarily in order to establish how best to advise local authorities how they might meet 
their procurement responsibilities.  

We wrote again in February to confirm that Atkins had been appointed to conduct the initial 
stages of that work – a Market Study comprising, amongst other things, an online survey 
open to all local authorities and a series of interviews with twenty authorities and with MIS 
suppliers.  I would like to thank all the authorities who participated in that Market Study 
process and have pleasure in enclosing Becta’s report on the issues which have emerged 
and the recommended way forward. 

The evidence collected during the Market Study did highlight some quite difficult issues 
and the report and recommendations are designed to provide advice and guidance to help 
local authorities ensure that their arrangements for the procurement of school MIS 
products and services are in accordance with EU and UK procurement law.  The report 
also indicates a number of ways in which costs and bureaucratic burdens may be reduced, 
competition and choice enhanced and overall value for money improved. 

The key area of concern which has emerged relates to the widespread use of annual MIS 
contract renewal practices which we consider, on the basis of advice received, are not in 
compliance with EU and UK procurement law.  The total annual value of MIS licence 
renewals is between £38 million and £44 million with about 80% of that business being 
awarded to a single supplier without a call for competition. 

Page 14



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

We recognise that the interplay between EU and UK procurement law and the acquiring 
and updating of school MIS solutions is complex and the extent to which any procurement 
behaviour conforms with or breaches the law will depend on the facts of a particular case, 
including the wording of any associated OJEU notice.  Ultimately, of course, such 
decisions are a matter for the courts and legal advice should be sought in specific 
circumstances.  We have set out our understanding of the relevant legal framework in our 
report. 

In summary, we consider that when a local authority renews on a year-on-year basis its 
MIS support contract it is, in procurement terms, awarding a new contract which must
comply with EU and UK procurement law.  Where an aggrieved supplier considers that the 
legal requirements have not been followed, the Remedies Directive, introduced into UK 
law in December 2009, makes it easier for them to challenge and potentially stop contract 
awards.  We believe that there is a significant risk that the procedures that many local 
authorities are currently using for MIS annual contract renewals could face a challenge.   

If a court rules the MIS contract ineffective it shall impose a civil financial penalty on the 
contracting authority.  Additionally, a court ruling of Ineffectiveness could mean that for an 
MIS support renewal the whole agreement would be regarded as ineffective and this could 
mean that the licence to use is also terminated if the support is not separable from the 
licence terms.  So the consequences for local authorities of non-compliant procurements 
are potentially serious. 

Overall, just over 20% of the local authority MIS procurement practices reported during the 
Market Study fell into categories that were considered likely to be compliant with 
procurement law.  Over 16% of the cases reported were categorised as unlikely to be 
compliant.  In over 63% of the cases reported the responses indicated the local authority 
could not identify the basis on which the product had originally been procured and thus 
may well have difficulty in defending a procurement law challenge.   

Recommendations on Procurement 

Our report recommends that where a local authority cannot demonstrate that the basis on 
which they are procuring MIS systems and supplier-provided support comply with 
procurement law, they should move quickly to establish EU-compliant market-testing 
arrangements. 

We recommend that where a local authority is unable to demonstrate compliance with EU 
and UK procurement law, they should limit the scope of un-competed MIS contract 
renewals they intend to make to that which is permissible under the only supplier 
exemption, i.e. to basic software maintenance such as bug fixes and changes necessary 
to facilitate alterations in government reporting requirements.  Such basic support should 
not include additional functionality or new software modules. 

We further recommend that local authorities examine the opportunity to protect themselves 
and their schools from some of the potentially significant consequences of a court ruling 
that their MIS supply and maintenance arrangements are in breach of EU and UK 

Page 15



NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

procurement law, by the use of an Open Journal of the European Union Voluntary Ex-Anti 
Transparency (VEAT) notice.  More detail on this can be found in the body of our report. 

Where local authorities have contracting arrangements for MIS supply and support which 
do comply with procurement law we recommend they should consider if the potential cost 
reductions available for entering into a multi-year contract with their supplier represent 
value for money. 

When market-testing their MIS provision we recommend the local authority should seek to 
limit the possibility of supplier lock-in by mandating the SIF interoperability standard. 

The arrangements for the provision of MIS support were not a detailed focus of the Market 
Study and did not fall within the scope of the online survey.  The local authority interviews 
did however explore the nature of the MIS support arrangement in place and the 
overwhelming model (in 75% of those interviewed) was that the support was provided via 
a local authority support team.  In many cases such support was “recharged” to schools. 

Whilst it is clear that MIS support teams provide valuable expert services to schools, it is 
likely that this provision will come under additional cost pressures in the light of the 
financial pressures being faced by schools and local authorities.  We believe the best way 
to ensure the on-going provision of such support is by local authorities coming together to 
form a shared service arrangement. 

We have also recommended that the Department considers the significant reductions in 
procurement costs which would flow from the establishment of a national procurement 
framework for MIS systems and Learning Platforms which schools and local authorities 
would have the freedom, but not the obligation, to use. 

We have provided several mechanisms through which further clarification can be provided.  
Firstly, we are happy to respond to individual queries by letter or email.  Such requests 
should be directed to Becta’s Head of Information Management 
Karen.Mitchell@becta.org.uk . 

Additionally, subject to demand, Becta will hold face-to face-follow up sessions in 
December, during which we will be happy to provide any further clarification required.  If 
you would be interested in attending a session please e-mail Andrea.Morrall@becta.org.uk

Yours faithfully 

Dr Stephen Lucey 
Executive Director, Strategic Technologies 

Page 16



Becta Report

September 2010

School managem
information system
and value for monand value for mon

A report with recommendatio

i l ti t l lissues relating to legal comp

reductions and bureaucratic 

ent
ms
ney 2010ney 2010

ons addressing 

li tliance, cost

burdens.

Page 17



 

 

Contents 

 

 

1 Executive summary and recommendations .............................................................. 3 

2 Introduction and background .................................................................................. 10 

3 Strategic context ...................................................................................................... 11 

4 MIS market review ! methodology .......................................................................... 13 

5 Nature of the MIS marketplace in England ............................................................. 15 

6 Legal obligations on contracting authorities ........................................................... 19 

7 MIS procurement practices ..................................................................................... 24 

8 Statutory returns ..................................................................................................... 31 

9 Interoperability ........................................................................................................ 33 

10 Addressing the challenges ahead ............................................................................ 35 

Annex 1 – Modular definition of an MIS ........................................................................... 42 

Annex 2 – Categorising procurement behaviour .............................................................. 43 

Annex 3 – MIS framework agreement ! characteristics ................................................... 44 

 

Page 18



 

September 2010  page 3 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

1 Executive summary and recommendations 

Summary of recommendations from the 2010 market study 

1.1 The primary focus of this report is an analysis of the operation of the marketplace for school MIS 
products and services, and specifically on the procurement practices in place.  However, the school
Management Information Systems (MIS) marketplace is impacted by a wider set of issues such as 
statutory returns, interoperability approaches and the arrangements for the provision of local 
authority support.  Consequently the Market Study commissioned by Becta and carried out by 
Atkins Ltd considered the impact of these wider issues.   

1.2 On receipt of the findings of the Market Study Becta considered the evidence, commissioned the 
necessary legal analysis and developed this report and recommendations. They address: 

 Compliance with Procurement Law 

 Reductions in Costs 

 Reductions in Bureaucratic Burdens. 

1.3 In summary, it is clear from the evidence and findings emanating from the Market Study that the 
school MIS marketplace is: 

 Still uncompetitive as a result of a virtual absence of Open Journal of the European Union 
(OJEU) compliant procurement activity 

 Still dominated by a single supplier  

 Still distorted due to the impact of the statutory returns process which increases costs to 
schools, increases the burdens on local authorities and mitigates in particular against smaller 
providers

 Still characterised by a lack of understanding of the relevant EU and UK procurement 
regulations at the local authority level, and concerns round the cost of change 

 Still impeded by a lack of a mandated interoperability standard 

 Still supported by specialist teams, almost always operating at the individual local authority 
level, and consequently unable to take advantage of economies of scale.  

1.4 The relevance of such findings take on significant importance given that over the 5 year lifetime of 
this parliament the costs to schools of MIS licensing, maintenance and support is likely to exceed 
£550 million at 2009/10 prices.   

1.5 Therefore, the recommendations below are designed to drive greater efficiencies by improving 
competitiveness, reducing both the cost of MIS provision and bureaucratic burdens. 

Recommendations on legal compliance 

1.6 Recommendation 1 – Each local authority should urgently conduct a review to determine if the 
specific arrangements they have put in place for the supply and on-going maintenance of school 
MIS systems are in accordance with the law. This recognises that the Market Study identified a 
significant number of MIS procurement activities which are potentially non-compliant with EU and 
UK procurement law (Paragraphs 1.14 to 1.21).    

1.7 Recommendation 2 – Where local authorities are unable to demonstrate compliance with EU and 
UK procurement law they should limit the scope of un-competed MIS contract renewals they intend 
to make to that which is permissible under the only supplier exemption (Paragraphs 1.22 to 1.26).   

1.8 Recommendation 3 – Local authorities should examine the opportunity to protect themselves and 
their schools from some of the potentially significant consequences of a court ruling that their MIS 
supply and maintenance arrangements are in breach of EU and UK procurement law, by the use of 
an OJEU Voluntary Ex Anti Transparency (VEAT) notice (Paragraphs 1.27 to 1.33). 

Page 19



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 4 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Recommendations on reducing costs 

1.9 Recommendation 4 – The Department should consider the very significant savings which would 
flow from the establishment of a cost effective national or central MIS procurement mechanism, 
with associated advice and guidance, which local authorities and schools would then have the 
freedom to use.  This recognises the likely significant increase in the number of MIS related EU 
compliant procurements.  It is estimated that the difference between the cost of the recommended 
approach and the cost of procurements at the individual school level would be some £138 million 
over five years (Paragraphs 1.34 to1.39).    

1.10 Recommendation 5 – Local authorities should urgently revisit their options for reducing the cost of 
MIS licensing and the cost of delivering MIS support to schools.  This is in the light of the 
considerable financial pressures facing the entire education sector (Paragraphs 1.40 to 1.42). 

1.11 Recommendation 6 – The Department should consider introducing arrangements to remove the 
potential for double charging.  Currently when a school changes its legal status, for example by 
becoming an Academy, it can be required by its MIS provider to pay again to licence its existing 
MIS system in circumstances where its MIS supplier prohibits licence transfer (Paragraphs 1.43 to 
1.44).   

1.12 Recommendation 7 – The Department considers mandating an interoperability standard in the 
MIS and Learning Platform (LP) marketplace and that such a mandated standard should be in 
place within the next 12 months.  This would assist schools in exercising choice, increase 
competition and reduce interoperability costs (Paragraphs 1.45 to 1.48). 

Recommendations on reducing bureaucracy 

1.13 Recommendation 8 – The Department considers the benefits of an immediate freeze in respect of 
further changes in the specification for data returns.  This would support their commitment to 
urgently ensure all schools are freed of bureaucracy and to reduce the burden of data collection on 
schools (Paragraphs 1.49 to 1.52).  

Legal compliance concerns 

1.14 The core legal concern relates to the fact that £38 million to £44 million of public funds is expended 
annually on the renewal of MIS software maintenance contracts, almost universally without a call 
for competition and potentially in a manner which goes beyond the exemptions available under EU 
and UK procurement law.  

1.15 Legal advice indicates that the annual renewal of MIS software maintenance contracts effectively 
comprises the award of a new contract. Such awards will therefore be subject to the full procedural 
requirements associated with EU and UK procurement law unless they fall under the scope of one 
of the two exemptions available.  

1.16 One such exemption – the additional services exemption, permits under certain circumstances the 
purchase of services beyond those originally contracted for.  However the total value of such 
additional services is limited to 50% of the value of the original contract.  This exemption is 
considered therefore not to be relevant to the circumstances under which the vast majority of 
annual MIS contract renewals take place (Paragraphs 6.5 to 6.7).  

1.17 The remaining exemption (the only supplier exemption) relates to circumstances when there are 
technical reasons which mean that there is only one company with the expertise or the exclusive 
rights to provide the services. This exemption will be available for school MIS contract renewals, but 
only to the extent that the renewal is limited in scope to basic software maintenance such as bug 
fixes and changes necessary to facilitate alterations in government reporting requirements. 

1.18 However, the only supplier exemption would not include anything that could be acquired from other 
software vendors such as new software modules or additional functionality. It also wouldn’t permit 
incremental changes to a product which were shown over time to have resulted in the supplier 
developing new areas of functionality or indeed a completely new product.  Generational changes 
in the nature of the products, for example, the upgrade from a DOS-based product to a Windows-
based product, or from a local area network (LAN) based product to a “cloud” based product, would 
if challenged be likely to be regarded as sufficiently material to require the change to be 
competitively procured by the contracting authority (Paragraphs 6.8 to 6.12).

Page 20



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 5 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

1.19 Recognising the limitations which apply to the only supplier exemption, the Market Study analysed 
the procurement practises reported and noted that just over 20% of the practice fell into the 
categories that were considered likely to be compliant with procurement law. Over 16% of the 
cases reported were categorised as unlikely to be compliant.  In over 63% of the cases the 
responses indicated the local authority could not identify the basis on which the product had 
originally been procured, and thus may well have difficulty in defending a procurement law 
challenge.   

1.20 In summary, a large number of annual MIS contract renewals are taking place in the absence of 
competition.  These renewals are considered to fall within the scope of the procurement regulations 
and its requirements for an OJEU based call for competition.  Additionally, a significant number of 
local authorities have acquired new functionality over the past few years which would also typically 
fall under the scope of the procurement regulations. However, over the last 5 years only 18 MIS 
related OJEU procurements have been identified. 

1.21 The introduction into UK law of the Remedies Directive in December 2009 makes it much easier for 
suppliers to challenge contract awards and makes the implications of successful challenges more 
wide ranging. In the light of this, we consider it essential that local authorities should urgently 
conduct a review to determine if the specific arrangements they have put in place for the supply and 
on-going maintenance of school MIS systems are in accordance with the law.  

De minimis scope in contract renewals 

1.22 The Market Study found that many of the MIS systems currently in use in schools were originally 
procured many years ago and had been continually updated and enhanced via the mechanism of 
annual maintenance. More recently the majority of local authorities have acquired new functionality 
to meet the needs of relatively recent government initiatives in respect of 14 to 19 provisions and in 
respect of web based access for teachers and parents.   

1.23 The continual updating and enhancement of functionality or the acquisition of new functionality is 
considered to go beyond what is permitted under the only supplier exemption to the EU and UK 
procurement laws. 

1.24 If contracting entities wish to rely on the only supplier exemption to award an MIS contract in the 
absence of competition, they must ensure that the scope of the services provided under that 
renewed contract are strictly limited to basic software support such as bug fixes and changes 
necessary to support statutory returns.  The services must not include new or enhanced 
functionality nor must they result in the migration of the product from one technical “generation” to 
another. The key test will be for the local authority in question to demonstrate that the changes 
delivered under the exemption do not expand the scope of the software or the support services 
delivered under the original contract. 

1.25 The MIS supplier is the organisation best placed to verify that the scope of changes to its software 
under a support contract will not exceed what is permissible under the exemption.  Contracting 
entities should therefore consider seeking written confirmation from their MIS supplier that the 
services provided under a support contract awarded without a call for competition do not exceed 
what is permissible under the exemption. 

1.26 The de minimis approach will not necessarily protect the contracting authority from a proposed 
award being challenged by a supplier under the Remedies Directive. If a legal challenge is actually 
commenced the contracting authority must suspend the award procedure.  However, the use of the 
de minimis approach should assist the contracting authority in justifying the proposed award to the 
court.  

Risk reduction strategy 

1.27 Following the introduction of the Remedies Directive in December 2009 additional remedies are 
now available to aggrieved suppliers including a requirement on a contracting authority to 
automatically suspend the contract-making when a legal challenge to the contract award decision 
is launched. The need for the aggrieved supplier to successfully apply to the High Court for an 
injunction is removed.  In addition, post the award of contract the High Court can now, for a period 
of time after contract award, make a declaration of ineffectiveness i.e. the cancellation of the 
contract, where certain serious rule breaches have occurred. In the context of the MIS marketplace 

Page 21



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 6 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

the most likely grounds justifying a finding of ineffectiveness are a failure to advertise a contract in 
the OJEU, or combined breaches of the procurement regulations. 

1.28 According to the Office of Government Commerce (OGC) guidance on the new remedies rules, a 
finding of ineffectiveness means that: 

“any obligations under the contract that have yet to be performed will be cancelled, and should not 
in fact be performed” but that “any obligations that have already been performed will not necessarily 
be affected by the cancellation”. 

1.29 The OGC guidance does not deal specifically with renewals of contracts.  It is possible that where 
an order of ineffectiveness is made for a contract extension the effect of the order would be to 
render the whole agreement ineffective and not just the element that has been extended. This could 
mean that for an MIS support renewal the whole agreement would be regarded as ineffective and 
this could mean that the licence to use is also terminated if the support is not separable from the 
licence terms.   

1.30 A finding of ineffectiveness can also have serious ramifications for the apparently successful 
supplier(s), who could find themselves deprived of a contract that they thought they had won fairly, 
with the breakage costs and losses of profit associated with that contract deprivation.   

1.31 If the High Court finds a contract ineffective, it is required to impose a civil financial penalty on the 
contracting authority. The level of the civil financial penalty will be decided on a case-by-case basis 
by the court, taking into account all relevant factors, and ensuring that the penalty is effective, 
proportionate and dissuasive.  Additionally, the High Court can provide for alternative penalties 
instead of ineffectiveness, in certain situations where ineffectiveness is inappropriate.  

1.32 In essence the rationale for the severe nature of these consequences is a wish to deter contracting 
authorities from the most severe breach of the procurement rules – a direct award of a contract 
without an OJEU advertisement.  This behaviour deprives potential suppliers of the opportunity to 
tender for the works or services and also of the opportunity to object prior to an award.  
Recognising the intentionally serious consequences which can flow from a declaration of 
ineffectiveness the Remedies Directive provides a mechanism by which such declarations can be 
avoided.    

1.33 A contracting authority may decide it is justified in awarding a contract without an OJEU 
advertisement announcing a call for competition, because for example it considers the nature or 
scope of the contract does not fall within the regulations.  In this case the authority now has the 
opportunity to publish a new form of OJEU advertisement - a Voluntary Ex Ante Transparency 
(VEAT) notice.  This notice provides a public announcement that an award is proposed without a 
call for competition, giving suppliers an opportunity to challenge. The notice includes a mandatory 
justification for the decision not to carry out a competitive procurement. If no challenges are brought 
during the ten day standstill period commencing the day after the publication of the VEAT notice 
and the award of the contract then the contract can be awarded with the ineffectiveness remedy 
disengaged. 

Cost savings 

1.34 We considered carefully whether in the light of the wide range of procurement issues identified via 
the Market Study the most appropriate way forward would be to recommend that local authorities 
end their role in the procurement of school MIS solutions and leave the matter to individual schools.  
We rejected that approach for the follow reasons: 

1.35 It would place considerable additional bureaucratic burdens on thousands of individual schools at a 
time when the Department’s policy focus is on increasing educational standards and on reducing 
bureaucratic burdens. We estimate the additional market sounding costs of a school based 
approach to be in the region of £88 million over the lifetime of a five year parliament.  Additionally, 
about £31 million of further costs would arise as a result of the loss of aggregation which would flow 
from moving to individual institution purchasing. Thus the total five year costs of this approach 
would be in the order of £119 million. 

1.36 We also considered if recommending procurements by each individual local authority might be the 
best way forward. From a cost perspective we estimated that the cost of each local authority 
establishing arrangements (via an OJEU compliant process) on behalf of its individual schools 
would be in the region of £20 million over the lifetime of a five year parliament. However, an OJEU 
compliant process would allow local authorities to enter multi-year contracts.  The Market Study 

Page 22



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 7 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

found that the one authority that had taken such an approach had generated savings of about 12%.  
Replicating this across the system indicates that it would save about £25 million over 5 years.  Thus 
the net impact of individual procurements at the local authority level would be savings of £5 million 
over five years.  

1.37 The opportunity for significantly greater savings will flow from the establishment of a specific 
collaborative procurement arrangement (a framework) which takes account of the particular 
features of the MIS marketplace  Such collaborative arrangements provide the freedom for schools 
and local authorities to use them but place no obligation on them to do so.  We estimate that the 
initial cost of establishing such a framework would be between £400,000 and £500,000, and the 
cost of a call-off by all of the 152 local authorities to be about £5.2 million in total.  Thus the 5 year 
costs of establishing the arrangement would be about £6 million.   

1.38 The ability of local authorities to establish multi-year contracts is estimated to generate savings in 
the order of £25 million.  The net cost of this option is therefore a saving of about £19 million (£25 
million – £6 million) over 5 years, a significantly greater saving than that generated by procuring at 
the individual local authority level and £138 million less expensive than the cost of procuring at the 
individual school level. In summary the five year position is: 

 The implication of procuring at the individual school level is that it will cost an estimated £119 
million. 

 The implication of procuring at the individual local authority level is that the aggregation savings 
should exceed the cost of the procurements yielding a savings of £5 million. 

 The implication of establishing a common framework and associated support and guidance is 
that the aggregation savings should exceed the cost of the procurement by £19 million.   

1.39 The difference between the most expensive option and the least expensive option is £138 million.  
It should be noted that this £138 million sum takes no account of any savings that may be derived 
as a result of the competitive pressures generated by establishing the framework.  An earlier 
framework in respect of the provision of Learning Services is estimated to have reduced unit costs 
to schools by more than 60%.  The establishment of a national MIS framework arrangement is 
reflected in our recommendations. 

1.40 The annual costs for MIS licensing have grown from an estimated £31 million in 2005 to an 
estimated £38 million to £44 million in 2010.  The costs are rising at a historical average of 6% 
annually.  Unchallenged over the lifetime of a five year parliament they will have cost between £227 
million and £262 million.  Local authorities can take steps to reduce these costs by ensuring that: 

 Price reductions flow from any reductions in the nature, frequency and scope of statutory 
returns (Paragraph 10.48). 

 A very rigorous approach is taken to product enhancements, ensuring they are, in the current 
financial climate, absolutely essential enhancements and that there is full visibility regarding 
their current and future financial implications (Paragraph 10.44). 

 Where functionality enhancements are not being procured, as a result of a decision to adopt the 
de minimis approach to software maintenance, this reduction in scope is reflected in reduced 
supplier pricing (Paragraph 10.11). 

 Open competition via an OJEU procurement process is used to drive out year on year discounts 
as a result of a longer than one year commitment to a given supplier (Paragraph 10.40). 

 Local authorities should demonstrate the advantages of aggregated procurement and longer 
term agreements to their schools, and gain agreement from their schools to commit to longer 
term contracts. 

 Local authorities explore whether greater economies of scale in the procurement of MIS 
systems (for example by local authorities in a region combining their requirements) might 
generate greater savings than those possible by individual local authority purchasing. 

 The Systems Interoperability Framework (SIF) is mandated in the statement of requirement to 
ensure that contracting authorities are not in the future locked into their current supplier and that 
there is effective interoperability between MIS systems and Learning Platforms. 

 An assessment is made of the whole life infrastructure and support savings which could flow 
from a hosted or cloud based approach to MIS functionality. These savings would have to be 
adjusted for any increased bandwidth costs (Paragraph 10.42 to 10.43). 

Page 23



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 8 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

1.41 It is estimated that the cost of MIS support provided by local authorities to their schools is in the 
region of £65 million annually at 2010 prices or £325 million over the 5 year lifetime of a parliament. 
The fact that this support is usually funded directly by schools is a measure of the value they attach 
to it.  However, it is likely that the costs of the provision will come under increased scrutiny in the 
context of the financial pressures faced by schools and local authorities.   

1.42 Additionally, the support is often provided by relatively small and disparate teams operating within 
the confines of a single authority and seeking to provide expert support across a very wide range of 
functional areas.  This model of support also limits the ability to support more than one product, 
particularly in the smaller authorities.  We believe the time is right for local authorities to move to a 
shared service model for this support (Paragraphs 10.60 to 10.64).  

1.43 When a school changes its legal status by for example becoming an Academy, it is often is the 
case that its MIS supplier takes the view that the MIS licence is not transferable to the new legal 
entity.  Thus the school finds that it has to expend funds repurchasing a license to use an MIS 
system that it may have been using for very many years.  Both the original licence purchased when 
the school was a local authority school, and the licence purchased when the school changed legal 
status are likely to have been paid for from the public purse.   

1.44 In the light of the pressures on the public finances, we consider the ending of this double charging 
to be an opportunity to deliver savings and we recommend that the Department considers 
introducing arrangements to bring it to an end.  Such an arrangement could be via a property 
transfer scheme as envisaged by Schedule 8 of the Academies Act 2010, or an alternative statutory 
mechanism.

1.45 The lack of a mandated interoperability standard can also add costs in a variety of ways: 

 It can limit the ability of customers to select an aspect of functionality from a provider other than 
their current MIS provider thus leading to supplier lock-in 

 It can limit the ability of new providers to enter the marketplace and their ability to leverage 
existing data sources as they develop their offering 

 It can lead to inefficient business processes, data duplication, re-entering of data in multiple 
systems, reduction in data quality and increased reporting costs 

 It can lead to increased product development costs as each supplier seeks to develop their own 
approach to interoperability.

1.46 Since the publication of the 2005 report there has been significant progress regarding the use of 
SIF as an interoperability standard.  The Market Study reported that all of the main suppliers 
considered that a mandated interoperability standard would soon be essential, but there was 
increasing supplier concern regarding the time it was taking to achieve widespread adoption 
(Paragraphs 9.10 to 9.11). 

1.47 Local authorities also supported the introduction of a mandatory standard and the Specialist 
Schools and Academy Trust (SSAT) saw interoperability as increasingly important (Paragraph 
9.12).   

1.48 Therefore, we recommend that to assist schools in exercising choice, to increase competition and 
to reduce interoperability costs, the Department considers mandating an interoperability standard in 
the MIS and Learning Platform (LP) marketplace and that such a mandated standard should be in 
place within the next 12 months. 

Reductions in bureaucratic burdens 

1.49 A recurring theme during the Market Study was the continued impact that the data returns process 
(statutory and non statutory) places on suppliers, local authority support teams and schools.  These 
burdens flow from the electronic data requirements of the Department and a range of other 
agencies.  In 2005 there were 28 such mandatory returns and in 2010 there were 41. This 
represents virtually a 50% increase over the period.  

1.50 In addition to the new returns required there are on-gong changes to existing returns involving the 
omission of existing information or adding new information requirements. Finally there are currently 
86 “optional” returns which schools may choose to submit.  However every MIS provider has to 
provide functionality to meet the “optional” returns.  The financial cost of this extensive work falls to 
schools, suppliers and local authority support teams, not to those making the data demands.  

Page 24



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 9 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

1.51 For small suppliers in the MIS marketplace it is estimated that the effort to address the statutory 
requirements represents about 30% of their MIS turnover, whereas for the dominant supplier the 
effort is estimated to be less 3% of their MIS related turnover. Local authorities are also concerned 
about the impact of the statutory returns process arguing that it stifles innovation, limits new 
entrants into the marketplace and impacts on solution quality.  

1.52 We believe that in the light of the commitment of the Coalition Government to reducing the data 
burden on schools the time is right to consider a five year freeze on any changes to the 
specifications of statutory returns, with that freeze only being lifted when arrangements are in place 
to ensure that the data requirements of the centre do not result in additional costs to schools and 
disadvantage suppliers including SME’s (Paragraphs 10.47 to 10.50). 

Key strategic risk 

1.53 We consider that there is a significant risk that local authorities will face a legal challenge to the 
procedures they are currently using to renew, on a year by year basis, their MIS support 
arrangements. This is based on the procurement practices reported during the Market Study, the 
allegations of improper procurement practices made by some suppliers before and during the 
Market Study, and the relative ease with which remedies can now be pursued under the Remedies 
Directive.    

1.54 Where such challenges are duly issued local authorities are required by law to place the relevant 
contract renewal on hold.  Where the challenges are successful, local authorities run the risk of 
having contracts rendered ineffective (cancelled), and being subject to a civil financial penalty.  
Additionally, there is a risk that an ineffectiveness ruling would impact any on-going “right to use” in 
respect of current software products. 

1.55 Our various recommendations are designed to help individual local authorities identify any risks 
relating to their specific MIS procurement arrangements, minimise the potential for challenge and 
address risks round a potential finding of ineffectiveness.  We also highlight the nature of the 
savings that will flow from the establishment of a common national framework for procuring MIS 
solutions which schools and local authorities would have the freedom to use.  Recognising that 
local authorities will be considering the renewal of the MIS support contracts in December 2010 we 
believe urgent action on our procurement related recommendations is essential. 

1.56 We also set out other opportunities for cost reductions at the local authority and school level and 
actions which the Department may wish to consider regarding potential double charging, statutory 
returns, interoperability and the establishment of a framework agreement to facilitate procurements 
in a cost effective way. 

Page 25



 

September 2010  page 10 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

2 Introduction and background 

The 2005 Review 

2.1 In 2005 Becta published its ‘School Management Information Systems and Value for Money’ report.  
This identified concerns regarding the effective operation of the school Management Information 
Systems marketplace. The concerns included the considerable impediments to the exercise of 
effective choice by schools, the substantial increases in licensing costs of products from the 
dominant supplier as well as issues covering the timeliness and quality of Management Information 
Systems software.  

2.2 The report identified the need for improvement in a number of crucial areas including the 
procurement and effective use of Management Information Systems. To address the identified 
concerns the report made nine recommendations under the subject areas of Commercial, 
Interoperability, Delivering Effective Support and Statutory Returns.  

Update on 2005 recommendations 

2.3 When we set out our nine recommendations in 2005 we were clear that they were interdependent 
and consequently needed to be implemented as a cohesive whole.  Whilst considerable progress 
has been made in a number of areas, it will nevertheless be necessary to go significantly further in 
three crucial respects if the systemic changes envisaged in the 2005 report are to be delivered. 

2.4 Firstly, our recommendation on the establishment of a Framework Agreement to ensure local 
authorities were in compliance with their UK and EU procurement requirements was not 
implemented.  This was due to the fact that local authorities indicated that they did not have an 
appetite for such a Framework Agreement.  We set out elsewhere in our report why addressing this 
issue is now for them an urgent inescapable necessity.  

2.5 Secondly, whilst we have seen very considerable progress on interoperability including wide 
stakeholder commitment to the adoption of the Systems Interoperability Framework (SIF) as a 
national standard, the mandating of that standard is still to be confirmed. We set out elsewhere in 
our report why we feel the time for mandating a standard has now arrived.  

2.6 Finally, a key 2005 recommendation envisaged a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between 
the Department and the main suppliers of MIS products. This was successfully negotiated and 
signed in October 2006 and was seen as an important step forward as it committed the Department 
to ensuring that the changes in the requirements for statutory returns were kept to a minimum and 
communicated to suppliers in a consistent and timely way. Suppliers committed to delivering quality 
software to schools on time, and to work to improved interoperability and technical standards. 

2.7 The MOU envisaged that the Department would establish separate arrangements through which it 
contracts directly with suppliers in relation to statutory returns imposing quality and timeliness 
thresholds on providers. Therefore, the costs of meeting the Department’s needs via the statutory 
returns process would no longer fall to schools. In the event the establishment of the arrangements 
to facilitate direct contracting were not successfully concluded and the charges associated with 
statutory returns continue to fall, ultimately, to schools. In the absence of revised arrangements 
suppliers have declined to continue with a formal MOU.  

Supplier and local authority concerns regarding MIS procurement 

2.8 During 2008 and 2009 Becta received a number of representations from suppliers to the effect that 
the procurement arrangements adopted by local authorities in respect of MIS provision and support 
had not progressed, and that in their view the practices were in breach of EU and UK procurement 
law.  

2.9 Additionally, concerns have been raised by local authorities regarding the need for clarity in respect 
of their procurement obligations in the complex area of school MIS solutions.  Local authorities also 
raised concerns pertaining to a lack of effective interoperability between Learning Platforms and 
School MIS Systems. 

Page 26



 

September 2010  page 11 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

3 Strategic context 

Coalition Government policy 

3.1 There has been an early emphasis by the Coalition Government on bringing forward measures 
designed to deliver a paradigm shift in relation to the quality of education provision in England. The 
aim is to improve educational opportunity for all pupils with a particular focus on improvements for 
those most disadvantaged. There is also a growing consensus that such a shift is required if we are 
to successfully meet the present and future economic social and political needs of the nation, within 
the context of increasing global competition. 

3.2 Immediate emphasis has been placed by Government on the need to: 

 Provide greater autonomy for schools 

 Create a new generation of independently run state schools  

 Raise the status of the teaching profession 

 Make the most effective use of the resources available and reduce the deficit 

 Increase the adoption of open standards to support interoperability  

 Provide systems based on open interoperability. 

3.3 Along with the further empowering of the front line, the need for what the Department has described 
as “sharper, more intelligent accountability” has been identified as a policy priority. Effective 
Information and Communications Technology (ICT) products and services have the ability to 
significantly contribute to this empowerment and the related accountability. 

Empowering practitioners – facilitating accountability 

3.4 Central to delivering the paradigm shift will be the necessity to empower practitioners through the 
successful application of ICT. This will provide those delivering at the front line with the systems 
and tools that they need to effectively deliver the policy challenges in the context of increased 
autonomy and overall accountability.   

3.5 School leaders are increasingly looking to the role of ICT to support improvements in student 
learning, to reduce administrative overheads and to facilitate improvements in the effectiveness and 
efficiency of their schools.  Such transformation in working practices, efficiency savings and 
creative developments have been, and continue to, take place in the private sector through the 
application of emerging technologies. Educators can and should continue to build on those 
achievements. 

3.6 The challenges associated with both the new flexibilities and the sharper accountability will drive 
forward the need for relevant, reliable and timely tools, data and information at all levels of the 
education system. This is needed at the front line to support devolved management, administration, 
monitoring and evaluation of educational effectiveness, and in the classroom to help monitor 
student performance and facilitate assessment whilst ensuring teacher time is not spent on manual 
laborious record keeping and administration. The necessary tools and capabilities are at the heart 
of an effective school Management Information System (MIS).   

3.7 It is of strategic importance to schools and policy makers alike that the marketplace for school MIS 
systems operates effectively, driven by the principles of open competition, choice and 
demonstrable value for money. This will ensure that MIS systems better meet the needs of schools 
and support the front line. 

Driving competition and choice 

3.8 The intention underpinning the recommendations in this report is to ensure that within the 
increasingly complex world of technology implementation, diverse education opportunities and 
financial constraints, those delivering at the front line are effectively supported by their MIS 
systems.  This will require policy developments to ensure the marketplace for MIS systems 
operates much more effectively than it has done in the past.  Specifically, there is a need for 
measures to ensure: 

Page 27



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 12 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 The arrangements local authorities and schools have in place for the provision of MIS systems 
comply with EU and UK procurement law 

 Reductions in the burdens and costs associated with the statutory returns process 

 More effective interoperability within and between MIS products and the wider ICT ecosystem 

 More cost effective MIS support arrangements which can focus on helping schools deliver the 
maximum value for money from the considerable sums that they have been delegated. 

Reducing the deficit 

3.9 It is fully expected that the effective implementation of all our recommendations will ensure 
progress in meeting the Coalition Government’s educational objectives whilst also reducing the cost 
to schools of their MIS systems and support. This will free up valuable resources for the front line 
and ultimately this will ensure that more effective use is made of data, information and tools to 
support evidence based decision making which in the hands of empowered professionals will help 
them drive up standards and reduce costs. 

Page 28



 

September 2010  page 13 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

4 MIS market review - methodology

Structure of the review 

4.1 Becta’s review of the MIS Marketplace consisted of four stages, the first two of which were 
conducted independently of Becta. The four stages encompassed: 

 Commissioning independent field work, primarily via a range of face to face interviews and an 
online survey, to determine procurement practices on the ground and the views of local 
authorities and MIS suppliers. 

 Reviewing the findings emanating from the fieldwork and the production of a report and analysis 
for consideration by Becta and its legal advisors. 

 A review by Becta’s legal advisors which took account of the nature and extent of procurement 
practices identified and an independent analysis of the findings. 

 The production and release of a Report and Recommendations which took account of the 
Market Study, the legal advice and Becta’s analysis of the most effective way forward. 

4.2 In mid February 2010 Atkins was appointed to conduct the independent study (the “Market Study”) 
which comprised stages 1 and 2 as outlined above.  The key elements of the Market Study were: 

 An online survey available to all 152 local authorities 

 Face to face interviews with 20 local authorities.  When selecting the local authorities Atkins 
was required to take account of size, type and geographical locality.  Atkins noted that the level 
of MIS procurement activities in the local authorities they selected was higher than was typical 
of local authorities in England generally. 

 Meetings with MIS suppliers.  Atkins met with all seven of the Information Management 
Partnership for Schools (IMPS) suppliers along with a selection of other suppliers who provided 
MIS products or services to schools or Local Authorities in England. Six of the IMPS suppliers, 
representing more than 99% of the schools MIS marketplace, also agreed to provide additional 
detailed information in support of the Market Survey. 

 Engagement with a range of other individuals including representatives of the National 
Association of Head Teachers (NAHT) and the Specialist Schools and Academies Trust 
(SSAT).  

4.3 Following completion of the Market Study, Atkins submitted its report, which was reviewed by Becta 
and its legal advisors. Following that review Becta developed its Report and Recommendations. 

Approach to the market study 

4.4 Atkins was responsible for choosing those individuals to be interviewed via face to face meetings 
and for the design and delivery of the online survey.  In order to ensure an appropriate level of 
confidentiality and impartiality, Becta identified in its contractual arrangements with Atkins that it did 
not wish to know or receive any information about the identity of the participants in the Market 
Study. Atkins was given full discretion to determine which local authorities it approached and which 
individuals it interviewed. 

4.5 Individuals who had participated in the online survey or taken part in the face to face interviews 
were told by Atkins that in recognition of the fact that much of the data it was seeking would be of a 
particularly sensitive nature, their answers would be anonymous and treated in the strictest 
confidence. Becta agreed with this approach as it considered that Atkins was likely to get fuller 
disclosure if undertakings of anonymity and confidentiality were given to participants by Atkins.  

4.6 Becta provided assistance to Atkins in relation to the content of the online questionnaire and in the 
development of Topic Guides which were to be used to structure the interviews with local 
authorities and suppliers. 

Local authority consultation 

4.7 In early December 2009 Becta wrote to all Directors of Children’s Services (DCSs) to advise them 
of our intention to commission an independent review into the operation of the marketplace for 

Page 29



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 14 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

school Management Information Systems and supplier provided support. We indicated in that letter 
a number of grounds for undertaking the Market Study including the fact that: 

“Recently a number of suppliers have contacted us expressing significant concerns in regard to 
how the MIS marketplace is working from a procurement perspective.   There appears to be some 
uncertainty regarding the most appropriate approach to procuring MIS solutions in a manner 
compliant with EU obligations.  It is a complex area”. 

4.8 In February 2010 we wrote again to DCSs to advise them that Atkins had been appointed to 
conduct the Market Study and that they would be in touch with all local authorities as a matter of 
urgency.  Atkins subsequently wrote to all local authorities indicating: 

“As part of the review Atkins would be conducting an online survey with all local authorities in 
England and all responses would be analysed by Atkins and be reported anonymously to Becta to 
ensure that an individual authority could not be identified.”  

4.9 The survey was designed to collectively understand what MIS products and services are used, who 
supplies them and how they were procured.  

4.10 To ensure that participants in the online survey were in a position to consult within the local 
authority where necessary, the survey was designed to allow respondents to log in on any number 
of occasions to update and complete the survey.  Additionally, a PDF version of the survey was 
made available so that respondents could easily discuss any areas with relevant colleagues.  

4.11 In the event 75 local authorities completed the introductory parts of the survey and of that number 
54 provided information regarding the procurement arrangements in place. Face to face interviews 
were held with 20 local authorities. 

Policy developments 

4.12 On 24th May 2010 there was an announcement by the new Coalition Government of the closure of 
Becta.  Regarding the MIS Market Review, Becta took the decision, given the policy and strategic 
significance of the issues being identified at that time, to complete the relevant work as promptly as 
possible and move to release its findings, recommendations and advice. In the light of the closure 
announcement it is expected that Becta will discuss with the Department for Education (DfE) the 
means by which the recommendations can be taken forward.

Page 30



 

September 2010  page 15 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

5 Nature of the MIS marketplace in England 

Defining MIS systems  

5.1 In seeking to better understand the nature of the MIS Marketplace in England we need to be able to 
accurately define it.  The definition will have an impact on how we measure market share, how we 
assess market size and growth, how we identify target customers and how we assess the nature 
and extent of competition.  For the purpose of the Market Review we agreed that MIS systems are:  

“..the products services and tools that are used to support a school’s management and 
administration, enabling the educational institution to move towards evidence based decision 
making and more effective teaching and learning.”  

5.2 Therefore, the marketplace is the value of those products services and tools. However, there are some 
of those MIS related services which are not typically provided via a market.  One such example is the 
local authority MIS support teams which provide technical, functional and business support to schools.  
Given that our intention was to keep the focus of the review deliberately narrow we were not primarily 
concerned in the report with the supply of those local authority provided services, but rather with the 
products, services and tools that were provided via private sector companies and the extent to which 
their provision was in accordance with EU and UK procurement obligations. 

5.3 It is also the case that when one looks at the range of products, services and tools which contribute 
to “more effective teaching and learning”, it could arguably be considered to include virtually all the 
ICT resources within the school, certainly encompassing what is usually described as Learning 
Platforms (LPs), and curriculum software.   

5.4 Therefore, it was necessary for Becta to agree as part of the Market Study a definition of MIS 
systems which needed to be broad enough to recognise the sophisticated nature of the market 
offerings whilst remaining manageable and avoiding straying into the provision of products such as 
Learning Platforms. Commenting on the scope of the MIS definition used the Market Study indicates: 

“the […] list is not exhaustive, we believe that it represents the most common elements of an MIS 
and provides an appropriate and manageable definition for the survey. It should be noted that each 
supplier and LA will also have their own definition of an MIS.” 

5.5 The list of functionality which fell within the agreed definition is set out in Annex 1. 

Structure of the marketplace 

5.6 The Market Study used two measures to determine the structure of the MIS marketplace. One 
measure (the Census measure) focused on the data held by the DfE in respect of the MIS systems 
used to make Statutory Returns.  A second measure (the Usage measure) is based on data 
provided by the respondents to the online survey. 

The Census Measure 

5.7 The Census data held by the DfE identifies on a school by school basis the MIS system used to 
provide the electronic data return.  The position in 2005 and 2010 is summarized below: 

Market Share Movement 2005 to 2010 

Supplier 
No. of schools 

in 2010 
Market share 

2010 
Market share 

2005 
Change over 5 

years 

Bromcom 5 <1% <1% 0% 

Capita 17,789 80% 81% -1% 

Pearson Phoenix 651 3% 5% -2% 

RM 2,063 9% 9% 0% 

Serco 1,408 6% 3% 3% 

Wauton Samuel 198 1% 1% 0% 

Other 38 <1% <1% 0% 

22,152 100% 100%  

 

Figure 1: Market share movement 2005 to 2010 

Page 31



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 16 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

5.8 As the above table indicates, and based on approximately 22,000 returns, this measure of market 
share confirms that there has been virtually no movement in relative market share over the last 5 
years. 

5.9 In 2005, no supplier other than the dominant supplier had a market share of 10% or greater and 
that remains the position in 2010. In 2005, four providers had a market share of less than 5%, and 
that remains the position in 2010. In 2005, three providers had a market share of 1% or less and 
that remains the position in 2010.   

5.10 By any reasonable measure the schools MIS marketplace has remained stagnant. 

The Usage Measure 

5.11 The Market Study sought information from local authorities as to which supplier provided the 
software for each of the areas of functionality set out in Annex 1. With that data it was able to 
produce an uptake map of the market share for each provider’s solution for each functional area.  
The findings are summarised below: 

Figure 2: Market share per functional area 

5.12 Commenting on this analysis the Market Study indicated: 

“… that a number of products including Data Transfer, Finance, Web Access for Teachers and 
Parents, 14-19 Partnership Data Sharing and Library/Resource Management are supplied by other 
suppliers i.e. not the main suppliers.” 

5.13 When we aggregate the functional areas we get a feel for the degree to which, based on 
deployment, a given supplier dominates or otherwise the overall provision of MIS solutions. This 
analysis, which is based on 51 survey respondents, is set out in Figure 3 below.  

Supplier % Share of overall provision  

Bromcom 0.1% 

Capita 67.3% 

Pearson Phoenix 4.50% 

RM 5.1% 

Serco 7.6% 

Wauton Samuel 0.1% 

Other 15.4% 

Figure 3: Aggregated market share per supplier 

Page 32



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 17 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

5.14 This analysis, which is more broadly based than the census measure, confirms the dominant 
position of Capita and suggests that about 33% of the market place is held by smaller players.  
Commenting on this data the Market Study indicates: 

“It should be noted that above figures have been calculated using the average of a range of schools 
using each product (as the survey did not ask for absolute numbers). For this reason particular 
caution needs to be used when drawing conclusions from this data. We do however feel that this 
analysis provides a useful comparison from an actual product usage point and that it broadly 
supports the market share derived from the 2010 Census data”. 

Value of the marketplace 

5.15 The assessment of market value for 2005 and 2010 is summarised below: 

Area Estimated value 
2005 £ml 

Estimated value 
2010 £ ml 

Variance from 
2005 £ml 

Cost of MIS software and supplier 
provided maintenance and support 

31 38 – 44 +8 to +14 

Cost of local authority provided MIS 
support 

55 65 + 10 

Cost of MIS systems in schools 149 See Note 1 N/A 

Cost of MIS servers in schools See Note 2 19 N/A 

Total
235 122-128 N/A 

Figure 4: Assessed market value 2005 and 2010 

5.16 The 2005 report estimated the value of the sums expended on MIS software to be about £31 million 
annually. Evidence from the Market Study indicates that this sum has risen by about 6% year on 
year since 2005 and currently stands between £38 million to £44 million annually. That would 
indicate that since the 2005 report the total increase stands between 23% and 42%.  

5.17 Had the cost of MIS software remained at its 2005 level the 5 year cost would have been expected 
to be £155 million (5 years at £31 million per year).  Allowing for the actual 6% year on year 
increase brings the 5 year cost to £185 million, £30 million greater that might otherwise have been 
expected.   

5.18 Over the period that additional £30 million cost can be attributed to a range of factors including: 

 Additional functionality required by policy developments 

 Additional functionality required to meet statutory returns 

 Additional functionality required to meet the needs of schools 

 Additional enhancements to the technical platform. 

5.19 In the light of the pressures on the public purse and the expressed policy intention to divert 
resources to the front line, we believe that each of the underlying factors contributing to year on 
year increases in costs should be rigorously addressed. 

5.20 We have set out elsewhere in the report our recommendations regarding statutory returns and how 
cost reductions might be achieved.  We also believe that there is a case for “functional stability” in 
relation to MIS systems except in circumstances of pressing need.  This would also facilitate a 
significant reduction in the sums being charged to schools for annual maintenance / annual 
entitlement.   

                                                       
1
 By 2010 schools were for the most part operating integrated networks and the cost of workstations to access MIS 

systems was no longer considered a relevant measure.

2
 In 2005 the cost of MIS servers was not separately identified. 

Page 33



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 18 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

5.21 This functional stability would also allow MIS support teams to focus on enabling schools to make 
the most of the extensive functionality already available in many MIS systems, particularly those 
tools aimed at ensuring schools make the most effective use of the considerable resources under 
their delegated authority. This would drive forward improvements in teaching and learning.  

5.22 The Market Study is also clear that collaborative procurements and competition in the marketplace 
will yield savings. The issues flowing from the fact that the evidence indicated that little of the £185 
million 5 year spend was ever market tested is dealt with elsewhere in this report. 

5.23 It also remains the case that significantly more is spent supporting MIS systems than in acquiring 
them. Over the five year lifetime of a parliament the cost of MIS licensing/maintenance (at about 
£45 million annually) and MIS support (at about £65 million annually) is likely to exceed £550 
million. We set out elsewhere in this report our recommendations in respect of reducing both 
licencing and support costs. 

Approaches to funding product acquisitions 

5.24 We were able within the Market Study to identify how MIS products were being funded. 

Local authority approach to funding MIS products %

Local Authority purchases and schools paying local authority for bundled 

services that include local authority support. 
39% 

Local authority has negotiated local terms and pricing with one or more 

suppliers that the schools can choose to purchase directly from suppliers. 

7% 

Local authority purchases and schools pay local authority for single MIS 

product with bundled support from the supplier  

8% 

Other 46% 

 Figure 5: Approach to funding MIS products and services 

5.25 The evidence emerging from this analysis, including the textual responses classified as “Other”, is 
that local authorities continue to play a central role in the arrangements underpinning payments to 
MIS suppliers in all but a minority of cases. This will have implications for the extent to which local 
authorities are able to argue that MIS purchases by schools are “disaggregated” and thus not 
subject to EU procurement thresholds. This issue is explored in more detail later in our report. 

LA role in product acquisitions 

5.26 Evidence from the Market Review indicated that 86% of local authorities recommend specific MIS 
products to their schools.  It is clear that such advice has been taken seriously by schools and 
played a major part in their decision making around MIS provision.  

5.27 There are clearly advantages in local authorities aggregating the demand for MIS software, and 
playing a central coordinating role in the provision of cost effective and responsive support.  
However, in recommending a specific product local authorities will need to ensure that 
arrangements for the acquisition of that product do not distort competition in the marketplace and 
are in compliance with EU and UK procurement obligations. How EU and UK procurement law 
interrelates with the acquisition of MIS products and their on-going maintenance is set out in the 
following section of our report. 

Page 34



 

September 2010  page 19 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

6 Legal obligations on contracting authorities 

Scope of this section 

6.1 We set out in this section of the report our understanding of the legal obligations which surround 
the acquisition of MIS software and related services and the renewal of annual maintenance 
agreements.  This information is provided as general guidance only. It does not constitute specific 
legal advice. Whilst we believe that this section sets out a useful framework for analysing the 
interplay between EU and UK procurement law and the complexities associated with acquiring and 
updating school MIS solutions, the extent to which any behaviour conforms with or breaches the 
law will depend on the facts of a particular case including the wording of any associated OJEU 
notice. Ultimately such decisions are a matter for the courts and legal advice should be sought in 
specific circumstances. The responsibility for ensuring that procurements are conducted in 
accordance with the law rests with individual contracting entities.  

Relevant EU and UK legislation 

6.2 The purchase of packaged software by procuring entities has been subject to the EU procurement 
regulations since 1977.  The purchase of maintenance and support services was brought within the 
scope of the EU procurement regulations in 1994. Current EU regulations are given the force of law 
in England and Wales through the Public Contracts Regulations 2006. Whilst the procurement rules 
are complex, the underlying principles are straightforward. They require the procurement of goods 
and services to be conducted in a manner which is fair, open and transparent.  

6.3 The EU procurement regulations set out different obligations depending on the category of the 
services being procured.  The services are known as Type A or Type B services.  In general terms 
the obligations which relate to the provision of Type B services are less onerous than those which 
relate to Type A.  Type B services include services such as education and vocational health.  
However, the provision of MIS software does not involve the actual provision of “education and 
vocational health services”, it is simply the provision of goods and services.  The goods and 
services being supplied are actually computer and related services - a Type A service. 

6.4 Thus the provision of MIS software and services is considered to be subject to the full procedural 
requirements of the EU procurement rules associated with Type A services. However, there are two 
possible exemptions to the full ambit of the EU procurement rules which may be applicable and 
these are examined below in the context of the MIS marketplace. 

Additional services exemption 

6.5 This exemption relates to the provision of additional services which were not included in the original 
contract but which through unforeseen circumstances have become necessary, and where the 
services cannot for technical or economic reasons be carried out or provided separately from those 
under the original contract without major inconvenience to the contracting authority.  

6.6 As the onus is on the local authority to demonstrate that the exemption applies, it will clearly be 
harder for a local authority to rely on it where the original contract was not correctly procured 
(procurements categorised as “Red” in the survey analysis, as per Annex 2) or where local 
authorities are unable to identify the basis on which products were originally procured 
(procurements categorised as “Grey” in the survey analysis, again as per Annex 2).  

6.7 Also, even where the use of the exemption is justified, it is limited in total to 50% of the amounts 
paid under the original contract. In general terms, after examining a number of possibilities, we 
think that it is unlikely that there will be many situations where procuring entities are entitled to rely 
on this exemption in relation to the provision of MIS software and associated support. 

Only supplier exemption 

6.8 This exemption applies where a procuring authority is able to argue that “for technical or artistic 
reasons, or for reasons connected with the protection of exclusive rights, the services can only be 
provided by a particular person”.  In these circumstances the procuring authority is entitled to use 
the “negotiated procedure without prior publication of contract notice” i.e. to carry out a single 
tender procurement process.  

Page 35



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 20 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

6.9 This could apply where there are technical reasons which mean that there is only one company 
with the expertise to provide the services under the support agreement or one company has the 
exclusive right to provide such services.  In respect of basic support for an MIS product (such as 
bug fixes or patches to maintain the product), where the MIS provider is the owner of the 
Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) in the product and the MIS provider has not granted licences to 
third parties to amend and enhance the MIS product (such as in an open source arrangement) then 
the MIS provider will be the only person with the necessary rights to maintain the product.  
Consequently we consider that this exemption will in these circumstances apply to the provision of 
such basic support services.   

6.10 Additionally, where changes are required to update the software in respect of changing reporting 
requirements, (for example to the DfE), then such legislative updates would also most likely fall 
under the “only supplier” exemption.  The key test will be for the local authority in question to 
demonstrate that the changes do not expand the scope of the software or the support services 
delivered under the original contract.  The development of new functionality is not restricted by IPR 
constraints or any unique technical expertise and so this exemption is not available for the 
development of new functionality. 

6.11 EU case law indicates that, in considering the scope of exemptions, they are to be construed 
narrowly.  As such, procuring entities would not be permitted under the exemption to acquire 
anything that could be acquired from other software vendors such as new software modules or 
additional functionality. This would also be the case where incremental changes to a product were 
shown over time to have resulted in the supplier developing new areas of functionality or indeed a 
completely new product.  

6.12 For example, the upgrade from a DOS-based product to a Windows-based product, or from a LAN 
based product to a “cloud” based product is likely to be regarded by the court as being a change 
which would not be permitted under the only-supplier exemption.  This change is likely to be 
regarded by the courts as sufficient material to require the change to be competitively procured by 
the contracting authority.  As a result, regard should be had by the contacting authority when the 
only supplier exemption is claimed to the generation of a particular MIS product to which the 
originally procured product relates. Once the originally procured product has run its life, the 
contracting authority should seriously consider whether it is still possible to utilise the only supplier 
exemption in respect of on-going support or whether it is then the appropriate time for the 
contracting authority to test the market by way of a formal OJEU based procurement.         

Aggregation rules 

6.13 Where no exemptions apply, the financial threshold at which goods and services become subject to 
the full rigour of the Regulations is (at the time of writing) where the contract has a financial value in 
excess of £156,442 (excluding VAT).  For an arrangement of an indefinite duration, such as a 
perpetual MIS licence, the regulations provide that the financial value of the contract will be 
calculated on the original license charge and 48 months of support.  

6.14 Therefore procuring entities need to aggregate the provision of MIS supply and services contracts 
over a 48 month period. This indicates that an annual contract value of about £40,000 would mean 
the full Regulations would apply. We have set out below the rules which apply when a local 
authority seeks to consider the acquisition of MIS products as “disaggregated. 

Advising or recommending a solution and disaggregation 

6.15 Where individual procuring schools are separate legal entities (such as Academies) and the value 
of the goods and services being procured fall below the relevant financial threshold then the full 
scope of the procurement rules will not apply.  

6.16 However, under such circumstances an Interpretative Communication from the European 
Commission suggests that contracting authorities (i.e. those individual schools) will need to comply 
with the general principles of transparency and competitive procurement. Therefore, some sort of 
simplified competitive procurement process would be required. 

6.17 Whilst it should be recognised that currently most state schools are not in fact independent legal 
entities in their own right and will generally form part of their local authority, there are circumstances 
when they could demonstrate that they are “discrete operational units” and thus independent for the 
purposes of the aggregation rules. The general tests which will apply would be that the school: 

 can show that it is buying for its own use; 

Page 36



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 21 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 has a degree of budgetary independence in the area of contracting; 

 has the ability to independently make the choice of candidates and tenderers and does actually 
exercise such independent choice;  

 was not using the market power and influence of the local authority at any stage during the 
tendering process up to contract award.   

6.18 Where there are factors each of which demonstrate reliance by the school on the local authority in 
relation to its MIS purchases, this would mitigate against a local authority being able to successfully 
argue that such purchases are independent and should be dis-aggregated. We have set out below 
two case studies which demonstrate a number of the factors that will be relevant to such a 
determination: 

 Case Study 1 

6.19 The local authority has issued a recommendation to its schools that a particular product or service 
should be used. This is because the local authority in question has had talks with the supplier and 
has secured a preferential deal which will reduce the cost for the schools. In turn the local authority 
assists with negotiating the basis on which the product or service is supplied.  In this instance, the 
school will not be regarded as being a “discrete operational unit” and the purchases of all of the 
schools within a local authority in this situation will need to be aggregated. 

 Case Study 2 

6.20 The local authority informs its schools that it can only provide support for a single product and in 
addition has technical interfacing requirements that can only be met by that product. As this is the 
case, the local authority makes it clear that it will only pay for that product, and that the cost of 
procuring any alternatives will have to be met out of each school’s budget.  Again, in this instance 
the school will not be regarded as being a “discrete operational unit” and the purchases of all of the 
schools within a local authority in this situation will need to be aggregated. 

Procurement implications of contract renewals 

6.21 The majority of MIS support arrangements are renewed on an annual basis and many local 
authorities have been agreeing such annual renewals for many years.  Becta has been advised 
that such year on year renewals effectively comprise the award of a new contract.  This is 
because the local authority is in effect exercising its discretion as to whether or not to renew or 
terminate its MIS contract.  

6.22 The general rule is that the scope of the original advertised contract cannot be extended. As a 
result, where local authorities are unable to identify the basis on which products were originally 
procured (procurements categorised as “Grey” in the survey analysis) they need to exercise great 
care in relation to what they procure under the guise of software maintenance. However, where a 
contract is renewed after its minimum term and that option to extend was provided for in the original 
OJEU advertisement, the extension will not need to be competed.  

6.23 An extension that was not provided for in the original OJEU notice will be subject to the 
requirements of the procurement regulations unless it falls under one of the relevant exemptions.  
EU procurement case law indicates that when considering the application of exemptions to the 
procurement rules, the exemptions are to be construed narrowly.   

6.24 Of particular relevance in the context of renewals is the exemption which relates to the “only 
supplier” route via the negotiated procedure, the scope and limitations of which are discussed 
elsewhere in this report.  Local authorities are not entitled to procure under a software maintenance 
agreement solutions not covered by an OJEU compliant process and which could be supplied by 
another vendor. The test of whether another vendor could supply the product will usually be a call 
for competition. 

6.25 As set out above, significant functional upgrades not covered by an original OJEU compliant 
procurement process are unlikely to be considered acceptable. These include: (i) a generational 
step change at the end of a product’s life, (ii) upgrades which migrate a product from one technical 
platform to another, or (iii) arrangements whereby on-going software maintenance results in new or 
significantly enhanced functionality.   

Page 37



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 22 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

The Remedies Directive 

6.26 The Public Contracts (Amendment) Regulations 2009 which implemented the EU Remedies 
Directive came into force across the UK on 20 December 2009.  In general terms the Remedies 
Directive introduced enhanced post-tender notice requirements, stronger ‘standstill’ provisions, and 
tougher remedies for entering into contracts which were awarded in breach of the law and what the 
Office of Government Commerce (OGC) describes as “illegal direct awards”.  

6.27 The remedies for such behaviour are intentionally severe and now include the ability for a court to 
render the contract “ineffective” i.e. cancel it. As indicated previously the supply of MIS products 
and services are considered to be Part A services and therefore subject to the scope of the 
Remedies Directive. Therefore any MIS procurement (including any support contract renewal) 
commencing on or after the 20

th
 December 2009 will be subject to the enhanced remedies regime. 

Implications of acting outside the regulations 

6.28 As set out earlier, the extent to which any procurement behaviour conforms with or breaches the 
law will depend on the facts of a particular case including the wording of any associated OJEU 
notice, and ultimately such decisions are a matter for the courts. Notwithstanding this, it is important 
for contracting authorities to take note of the recent significant changes in the regime that will apply 
in circumstances where a supplier considers that a contract was awarded in breach of EU and UK 
procurement law. The key changes are summarised below. 

 The original regime 

6.29 Prior to the introduction of the Remedies Directive the remedies available to an aggrieved supplier 
were actions against a contracting authority in the High Court, or actions by the European 
Commission against a Member State in the European Court of Justice.   Prior to the award of a 
contract the High Court’s powers included the power to suspend an incomplete contract award 
procedure (an injunction), or the setting aside of a decision by a contracting authority.  Post the 
award of the contract, the only remedy available to the High Court was to award damages.  

 The new regime 

6.30 Nothing in the old regime has been taken away. However, additional remedies are now available 
under the Remedies Directive including a requirement on a contracting authority to automatically
suspend the contract-making when a legal challenge to the contract award decision is launched.
Thus the need for an aggrieved supplier to successfully apply to the High Court for an injunction is 
removed.  In addition, after the award of contract, the High Court can now make a declaration of 
ineffectiveness of a contract where certain serious rule breaches have occurred and must award a 
civil penalty where an ineffectiveness order is made.  

Contracts declared ineffective  

6.31 There are three grounds on which it is possible that a ruling of ineffectiveness in respect of a 
contract may be made. Those grounds are:  

 failure to advertise the contract in the OJEU;  

 combined breaches of the procurement procedural rules and the new review procedural rules; 
and  

 call-off procedural breach.  

6.32 If only one of these grounds is met, then a declaration of ineffectiveness could be available to an 
aggrieved operator.   

6.33 The consequence of such a declaration is the prospective ineffectiveness of the contract. According 
to the OGC guidance on the new remedies rules, this means that: 

“any obligations under the contract that have yet to be performed will be cancelled, and should not 
in fact be performed” but that “any obligations that have already been performed will not necessarily 
be affected by the cancellation”.  

6.34 The new Remedies Directive does not deal specifically with renewals of contracts.  It is possible 
that where an order of ineffectiveness is made for a support contract extension the effect of the 
order would be to render the whole agreement ineffective including the on-going software licence.  

Page 38



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 23 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

6.35 If the High Court finds a contract ineffective, it must also impose a civil financial penalty on the 
contracting authority. The level of the civil financial penalty is to be decided on a case-by-case 
basis by the court, taking into account all relevant factors, and ensuring that the penalty is effective, 
proportionate and dissuasive.  Additionally, the High Court can provide for alternative penalties 
(either contract shortening, fines, or both) instead of ineffectiveness, in certain situations where 
ineffectiveness is inappropriate. 

6.36 Ineffectiveness may be inappropriate where there are ‘overriding reasons relating to a general 
interest that require the effects of the contract to be maintained’, or where there has only been an 
infringement of the standstill rules or the automatic suspension requirement, but no corresponding 
breach of the procurement rules.   

6.37 The High Court will also have the power to rule on any consequential matters. For example, to 
provide for restitution of money already paid, or property transferred, under the contract, or for 
compensation to the economic operator who originally won the contract in good faith but was then 
deprived of it following the ineffectiveness ruling. 

6.38 A finding of ineffectiveness can also have serious ramifications for the apparently successful 
supplier(s), who could find themselves deprived of a contract that they thought they had won fairly, 
with the breakage costs and losses of profit associated with that contract deprivation.    

6.39 The contracting authority may be able to mitigate or avoid a decision of ineffectiveness by the 
publication of a Voluntary Ex Ante Transparency (VEAT) notice when it has awarded a contract 
without competitive tendering.  The VEAT notice provides the opportunity for aggrieved suppliers to 
challenge the decision to award without competition. 

6.40 The period during which proceedings seeking a declaration of ineffectiveness must be started is 
dependent on the extent to which the contracting authority has complied with obligations relating to 
advertising the contract award and its use of a standstill period.  In the absence of such measures 
the period under which the contract award may be challenged is six months from contract award. 

Conclusions regarding remedies 

6.41 Our conclusions are based on the procurement practices reported by the Market Study, the 
allegations of improper practices made to Becta by some suppliers leading up to the Market Study 
and during it, and the relative ease with which remedies can now be pursued. We believe that there 
is a significant risk that local authorities could face a legal challenge to the procedures they are 
currently using to renew, on a year by year basis and in the absence of OJEU based competition, 
their MIS support arrangements.   Where such challenges are successful, local authorities run the 
risk of having contracts rendered ineffective and being subject to a civil financial penalty. 

Page 39



 

September 2010  page 24 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

7 MIS procurement practices 

Level of understanding at LA level 

7.1 Commenting on the level of understanding in relation to procurement obligations, the Market Study 
commented: 

“In collecting evidence of current practice, we have found a clear lack of understanding from an LA 
perspective as to what they should be doing with regards to testing the market.” 

7.2 The Market Study also indicated: 

“We were highly concerned about the low level of formal market testing and procurement practice 
that is conducted by LAs in relation to MIS products and services.” 

Formal market testing 2005 to 2010 

7.3 Becta’s 2005 report identified the clear need for local authorities to review their existing MIS 
contracts to ensure that they complied with wider UK and EU procurement law obligations.  The 
report anticipated the establishment of a national Framework Agreement to facilitate, in a cost 
effective way, adherence by schools and local authorities to their EU and UK procurement law 
obligations.  

7.4 Feedback from local authorities subsequent to the publication of that report indicated that there was 
not an appetite within the local authority community for such a Framework Agreement, and 
consequently Becta did not proceed with it. 

7.5 Since the publication of Becta’s 2005 report there have been new requirements placed on schools 
which impacted their MIS systems.  Two of the most notable new areas related to web based 
access for parents and teachers, and in respect of 14-19 data sharing. The Market Study indicated 
that 67.5% of respondents confirmed that they had a solution in place in relation to the new 
requirement for web based access and that 42% of respondents had purchased a solution in 
relation to 14-19 functionality.  

7.6 It was therefore surprising to note that the Market Study established that in the period between 
2005 and 2010, during which these new requirements arose, the total number of formal 
competitions for MIS products and services was only 18. Of these, 12 were formal MIS related 
OJEU procurements, 5 related to BSF OJEUs which made specific reference to MIS.  The 
remaining “competition” related to a call-off from an OGC Buying Solutions Framework Agreement 
on which the only supplier indicated as capable of supplying an MIS solution was Capita 
(Paragraphs 10.29 to 10.30). 

Informal market testing 

7.7 The Market Study indicated that 60% of local authorities had conducted some form of informal 
market testing and that the nature and extent of this informal activity took various forms. Such 
activity is not of course a substitute for the procurement requirements of EU and UK law. 

7.8 Notwithstanding the clear recommendation in the 2005 report, the 2010 Market Study reported that: 

“It is clear that many LAs do not fully understand their legal obligation to conduct EU compliant 
procurements for the provision of MIS, or how frequently such an exercise should be undertaken. 
We estimate that, depending on the outcome of legal advice being sought by Becta, between 60% 
and 80% of local authorities could be in breach of EU procurement requirements with regards to 
how they acquire MIS”. 

When / how were current products acquired? 

7.9 The online survey contained a number of questions relating to the mechanism used by local 
authorities to procure their MIS systems and 9 possible responses to such questions. Becta 
subsequently categorised these 9 possible responses as Green (possibly EU compliant), Grey 
(procurement basis unknown), Red (considered unlikely to be judged compliant).  Further details of 
the categorisation are set out in Annex 2. 

Page 40



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 25 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

7.10 There were 75 local authority responses to the online survey element of the Market Study, and for 
each of the 21 areas of functionality it allowed respondents to identify up to 3 suppliers.   

7.11 Of course no local authority has arrangements in place with 3 suppliers for every area of MIS 
functionality and in fact the number of procurement related responses received across all 
responding local authorities was 947. These responses were further analysed from the 
perspectives of: 

 The Nature of the Overall Procurement Activity 

 The Number of local authorities who had procurement activity of a particular type. 

7.12 Nature of the Overall Procurement Activity - The 947 procurement related responses have 
categorised as follows: 

Figure 6: Likely overall EU procurement compliance based on online survey analysis 

7.13 This data shows that after analysing the 947 procurement responses to the online survey just over 
20% fell into the categories that Becta considered “Green”.   Over 16 % of the cases reported were 
categorised as Red, and in over 63% of the cases the responses indicated the local authority could 
not identify the basis on which the product had originally been procured. 

7.14 The following summary indicates how the 947 procurement responses relates to each of the 21 
functional areas from the online survey element of the Market Study:  

Figure 7: Likely EU procurement compliance per MIS functional area 

7.15 It is worth observing that whilst in the most recently procured functional areas (Web Access and 14-
19 data sharing) the level of “Green” procurement activity is higher than in other areas, it remains 

Page 41



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 26 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

(at between 30% and 40%) very far short of being the norm.  Indeed the 14-19 area represents not 
only one of the most recent functional areas but the one with the highest declared level of 
procurement activity which can presently be considered as Red.  

7.16 In broad brush terms this analysis indicates that about 20% of the functionally in any given area 
was procured via procedures assessed as Green, and about 15% via procedures assessed as 
Red.  In about 65% of the cases the basis through which the functionality was procured was 
unknown i.e. Grey.  

The number of Local Authorities who had procurement activity of a particular type 

7.17 Of the 75 local authorities responding to the online survey 54 (72%) provided some data regarding 
how school MIS functionality had been procured. This analysis looked at each of the 54 responding 
local authorities to determine how much of its procurement activity fell into each of the 
Green/Grey/Red categories.  Graphically the position is as set out below: 

Figure 8: Likely EU procurement compliance per responding local authority 

7.18 In summary the position in relation to the degree of assessed procurement compliance of those 
local authorities providing procurement level data was as follows: 

7.19 Green – Possibly EU compliant. The number of respondents who indicated they were using an 
approach categorised as “Green” for all of the MIS procurement areas that they actually provided a 
response for was 3 (6% of the 54 responding local authorities).  A further 25 local authorities 
indicated at least some procurement activities that were categorised as Green bringing the total of 
such responses to 28 (52%).  The responses from 26 local authorities (48% of respondents) 
indicated not a single area of MIS procurement activity which was categorised as “Green”. 

Page 42



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 27 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

7.20 Red – Unlikely to be EU compliant. The number of respondents who indicated they were using 
an approach categorised as “Red” for all of the MIS procurement areas that they actually provided 
a response for was 2 (4%).  A further 17 local authorities indicated at least some procurement 
activities that were categorised as Red bringing the total of such responses to 19 (35%).  The 
responses from 35 local authorities (65% of respondents) indicated not a single area of MIS 
procurement activity which was categorised as “Red”. 

7.21 Grey – Status of Procurement Unknown. The number of respondents who indicated that they 
were using an approach categorised as “Grey” for all of the MIS procurement areas that they 
actually provided a response for was 17 (31%).  A further 32 local authorities indicated at least 
some procurement activities that were categorised as Grey bringing the total of such responses to 
49 (91%).  The responses from 5 local authorities (9% of respondents) indicated not a single area 
of MIS procurement activity which was categorised as “Grey”. 

Level of confidence regarding legal compliance 

7.22 A key recommendation contained within the 2005 Report noted that local authorities should review 
their MIS supply arrangements to ensure they complied with EU and UK procurement law. 

7.23 Based on the detailed data provided via the Market Study, Becta’s level of confidence that the 
procurement practices operated by local authorities in this area are compliant with EU and UK 
procurement obligations is extremely low. 

7.24 In summary, this analysis paints a seriously worrying picture regarding the level of MIS 
procurement activity which the Market Study considers as potentially compliant with EU and UK 
procurement law.  Local authorities with a significant level of Red/Grey activity could find it very 
difficult to successfully defend a challenge to their MIS procurement approach when they next seek 
to renew their MIS contractual arrangements. 

Suspending standing orders  

7.25 In addition to their obligations under EU and UK procurement law there is a legal requirement on 
local authorities to maintain internal contracting processes and ensure competition by the 
establishment of relevant standing orders.  However, a local authority can exempt any contract 
from such standing orders when it is satisfied that the exemption is justified by special 
circumstances. 

7.26 One in five of the local authorities interviewed as part of the Market Study indicated that they had, 
in relation to purchasing annual MIS support, sought and been granted, approval by the local 
authority to suspend the relevant standing orders.   

7.27 It should be noted that such standing orders do not in any way take precedence over UK and EU 
procurement laws.  Thus where the negotiation of a contract renewal by a local authority without 
competition would be contrary to procurement law, any waiver of standing orders would not prevent 
a breach of procurement law by the local authority.  

Contract renewal – future local authority intentions 

7.28 We asked the Market Study to identify when the contractual arrangements local authorities had in 
place for the various aspects of MIS functionality were due for renewal.   

7.29 The Market Study had 1101 responses in this area of which 463 indicated that the date for contract 
renewal was unknown. Of the 618 remaining responses 503 (81%) indicated an intention to renew 
their contracts within the next 12 months.   

Development of the MIS marketplace over time  

7.30 We asked the Market Study to determine when the MIS products were first deployed. An analysis 
of the responses received is summarised below: 

Page 43



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 28 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Figure 9: Likely date of initial deployment of MIS functionality 

7.31 If a local authority indicated when a single product was first deployed that would count as one 
response, a local authority indicating when all 21 functional areas were first deployed would count 
as 21 responses. There were a total of 1,373 responses to questions as to when products were first 
deployed and 473 of those responses indicated the date was unknown.  So the Market Study has a 
total of 900 responses regarding when individual areas of functionality were deployed. 

7.32 In broad brush terms the above analysis shows on a local authority by local authority basis a fairly 
consistent pattern of deployments over the last 3 years, notwithstanding that these deployments 
took place in a context of very few OJEU procurements.  

7.33 Looking cumulatively at the 900 responses and plotting them against the year of deployment yields 
the following:   

Page 44



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 29 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Figure 10: Cumulative number of functional areas deployed 1990 ! 2010 

7.34 The analysis of this data in relation to procurement practices needs to be treated with some 
caution.  Firstly, it relates to when functionality was deployed not when it was procured.  Secondly, 
whilst the Market Review has MIS OJEU procurement history data for the period from 2005 to 2010 
we have no data on the nature or extent of MIS OJEU related procurements prior to 2005. 
However, the data does suggest a fairly consistent year on year pattern of an increasing number of 
functional deployments.  

7.35 Additionally, in the context of 75 local authorities responding to the online survey and with 21 
functional areas and (theoretically) up to 3 supplier options per functional area, the maximum 
number of deployment options would be 4,725. Had each of the 75 local authorities had a single 
supplier for each functional area the maximum number of deployment options would be 1,575. So 
an analysis based on 900 actual deployments needs to be treated with some caution. 

7.36 However, in 2005 the cumulative number of functional deployments was approximately 1000.  In 
2010 the number had increased to about 1250.  This increase took place in the context of a very 
low number of OJEU procurements over the same period.  Likewise there is a picture of steady 
year on year increases in the number of functional deployments since about 1992 but relatively 
limited history of an equivalent steady flow of local authority OJEU procurements over that period.  

7.37 Commenting on the way that new functionality was brought to the marketplace the Market Study 
noted: 

“Atkins found no evidence to suggest that brand new modules are included within suppliers’ annual 
maintenance charge (for example 14-19 solutions and parental reporting are being purchased in 
addition to previous contractual agreements). It is however clear from speaking to some LAs who 
use SIMS that this practice was used historically by Capita but that this has now ceased (these 
specific LAs believed this to be due to “competition requirements”). 30% of LAs interviewed noted 
that they would actually prefer new modules to be included in the annual maintenance again  

Whilst brand new functionality is no longer included in the annual support charge, it should be 
noted that all suppliers include new enhancements to existing modules as part of their ongoing 
agreement with their customers. This, in some cases, can lead to significantly enhanced, updated 
and even rebranded modules being developed and freely made available within the existing MIS 
agreements.” 

Procurement by individual schools  

7.38 In addition to the 947 local authority procurements reported as part of the online survey element of 
the Market Study, respondents indicated on 407 occasions that the relevant functionality was 
“Purchased direct from supplier by school”. 

Page 45



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 30 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

7.39 On the face of it procurement decisions made freely by individual schools fall outside the scope of 
the Market Study – it was concerned with procurement practices at the local authority level. 
However, as indicated in our earlier analyses of the legal framework, there are activities that a local 
authority typically undertakes which will make it more difficult for them to argue that the MIS 
purchases made by individual schools fall outside their EU and UK procurement responsibility as 
they are disaggregated.   

7.40 One of the important factors to be considered will be what role if any the local authority played in 
advising the school and to what extent it was involved in providing support for the solution chosen 
by the school. 

7.41 In that respect it is worth noting that the Market Study stated: 

“86% of LAs surveyed recommend specific MIS products to their schools. This recommendation is 
often based around the fact that the LA has negotiated a discount with the supplier for aggregated 
procurement at LA level and/or the LA has a school MIS Support team that specialises in a certain 
product. This is the case in the majority of LAs who use Capita SIMS as their preferred product.  

Of the 14% surveyed who do not recommend specific products, the LAs will usually still engage 
with schools regarding MIS choice by helping them to informally assess available products and 
providing support regarding evidence based decision making, but they do not have a preferred 
supplier.” 

7.42 A further indicator of the ability to argue that such purchases are disaggregated will relate to the 
extent to which the local authority provides support.  The Market Study stated: 

“Where LAs offer support for a specific product set or sets, they generally prefer the schools to use 
their supported solution but LAs stress that the decision to do so rests firmly with the schools.  

75% of LAs interviewed provide support and maintenance to schools that use their preferred MIS 
products. This is mainly support for Capita’s MIS however one LA also supports Serco and another 
supports RM.” 

7.43 We have set out our view on how most effectively to address the urgent and wide ranging 
procurement issues facing local authorities in Section 10 of our report. 

Page 46



 

September 2010  page 31 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

8 Statutory returns 

The 2005 position 

8.1 Becta’s 2005 report noted the progress that had been made in relation to statutory returns but 
identified the need for fundamental improvements in this area and recommended; 

“a revised commercial framework for the collection of statutory returns data to reduce “the 
considerable financial and bureaucratic burden the process currently places on schools, LEAs and 
MIS suppliers.” 

8.2 It further recommended that the revised commercial framework would require that the Department 
enter into a formal memorandum of understanding (MOU) with each of the providers of school-wide 
MIS systems and that the timescales for release or changes to statutory returns agreed via the 
MOU should recognise the considerable practical challenges associated with the steps necessary 
to upgrade software on individual school systems.  

8.3 It went on to recommend that once established, the MOU should be developed and enhanced to 
provide a comprehensive framework for the technical specification of returns, taking full account of 
emerging cross-government standards.  The recommendation in this area was that:  

“on the establishment of that comprehensive framework, the Department should then establish 
separate contractual arrangements for statutory returns through which it contracts directly with 
suppliers, imposing quality and timeliness thresholds on providers. The costs of meeting the 
Department’s needs via the statutory returns process should therefore no longer fall to schools.” 

Progress to date 

8.4 The Market Study indicated that local authorities had confirmed that considerable improvements to 
the timeliness and quality of new software releases was achieved since the 2005 report, although 
they indicate that there is still some way to go. We believe these noted improvements to be 
attributable to the signing of the MOU.   

8.5 As part of the agreement to establish the MOU, a Central Data Returns Funding Project was set up 
and led by the Department in August 2008 to test the concept of funding software suppliers towards 
the costs of changes to their software systems resulting from the Department’s data requirements. 
The aim was that the Department would contract directly with suppliers, imposing quality and 
timeliness thresholds. The costs of meeting the Department’s data needs would therefore no longer 
fall to schools and local authorities. 

8.6 The Department instigated the Gateway process in August 2008 and the Gateway 1 review took 
place in October 2008.  This validated the need for the project, though it led to a significant revision 
of its methodology.  No Gateway 2 review took place, as this was deemed by the Gateway review 
team to be unnecessary.  The Gateway 3 review in March 2009, however, took the line that the 
project had no compelling business case, a return on the investment could not be demonstrated 
and there were several potential negative outcomes.  As a result, the project was closed in April 
2009. Therefore there was no funding available for suppliers to deliver Department required 
changes to software.   

8.7 At the time the project was closed, work was underway to agree a renewed MOU. However, since 
the closure of the funding project suppliers have declined to enter into a new MOU and thus there is 
no longer an agreed MOU between the suppliers and the Department. 

Current view of suppliers  

8.8 During the Market Study 6 IMPS suppliers all expressed a level of concern around the annual 
development costs incurred in order to support the Department’s and other agency statutory return 
requirements. This was of particular concern to suppliers with a low market share, whose 
investment in meeting these requirements represents a substantial cost in comparison to their 
returns from MIS sales.  Smaller suppliers in particular considered the demands of statutory returns 
to be a barrier to improved innovation and competition within the MIS market. 

8.9 Suppliers cited this development cost as a major contributor to their annual support and 
maintenance charges. They also expressed discontent that the recommendation in the 2005 report, 
regarding the costs of changes to statutory returns being met by the authority requesting the return 

Page 47



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 32 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

was never followed through to a satisfactory conclusion due to the closure of the Central Data 
Returns Funding Project.  

8.10 As part of the Market Study the main suppliers were asked to estimate the cost to them of meeting 
the statutory return requirements.  Four suppliers responded and the data generated average 
annual costs of £370k. When these figures are compared against the market share for each 
supplier, the proportional cost is significantly higher for those with a smaller market share.   

8.11 The review report estimated that the software development costs of statutory returns equates to 
over 30% of the estimated MIS related turnover for two suppliers.  Whereas for the dominant 
supplier the estimate was that the software development cost of statutory returns equates to less 
than 3% of their MIS related turnover. Assuming four providers with an average software 
development cost in relation to statutory returns of £370K, yields an annual cost for all 6 suppliers 
of £2.2 million or £11.0 million over the 5 year lifetime of the parliament.  It should be noted that that 
£11.0 million is the assessed cost to suppliers not the charges they might make to schools.  The 
figure takes no account of the actual cost to suppliers and local authorities of providing support to 
schools during the statutory returns process, or the costs in time and effort for each school to make 
the online returns.    

Current view of Local Authorities  

8.12 Local authorities interviewed during the Market Study also expressed concern about the increasing 
demands that the changing requirements of statutory and non-statutory returns are placing on both 
their own resources, schools and their MIS suppliers.  They considered the impact to include stifling 
innovation and limiting the potential for new entrants to the market and impacting quality. Whilst 
they indicated that the MOU has resulted in considerable improvements they still feel there is some 
way to go and indicated concern that the cost of making changes to meet central Government 
requirements continues to be passed onto schools. 

Becta’s assessment  

8.13 Management Information Systems suppliers are part of the delivery chain and relationships and 
engagement between them and the Department need to be managed effectively.  

8.14 In continuing discussions around the Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the 
Department and suppliers, it was clear that suppliers expected the central funding proposal to be 
enacted, ideally via full-cost recovery approach but this was considered by the Department to 
exceed the likely budget available. 

8.15 Scoping “statutory data requirements” was a further difficulty not least because of the tension 
between suppliers wanting a broad definition and funding limitations.  Establishing an independent 
and fair funding mechanism that would be accepted by a range of suppliers with widely differing 
market shares and business models was also a further difficulty in agreeing an acceptable way 
forward.  

8.16 We have set out Becta’s view of the way ahead on the issue of statutory returns in Section 10 of 
our Report. 

Page 48



 

September 2010  page 33 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

9 Interoperability 

The 2005 position 

9.1 The 2005 report recommended that Becta should establish supplier-independent and open 
interoperability architecture to create the opportunity for improved interoperability at the school level 
and at the LA or Regional Broadband Consortium (RBC) level. The System Interoperability 
Framework (SIF) was seen as being “at the heart” of the interoperability drive. 

Progress to date 

9.2 Since the publication of the 2005 report, Becta has led on education related interoperability 
developments and SIF has been confirmed as the preferred solution.  SIF is developed by the SIF 
Association, a non-profit membership organisation whose members include 2200+ software 
suppliers ranging from small specialist companies to multi nationals, schools, local authorities and 
government organisations active in primary and secondary education markets in the US, Europe, 
Australia and the UK.  

9.3 These organisations came together to create a set of rules and definitions which enable software 
programs from different companies to share information. The SIF Specification makes it possible 
for programs within a school or local authority to share data with other establishments without any 
additional programming and without requiring each supplier to learn and support the intricacies of 
other suppliers’ applications.  

9.4 The goal of the SIF Association is to make it possible for the educational community to have access 
to the most current and accurate data available. Becta co-chairs the SIFA UK Board and also 
represents the UK on the US SIFA Board.  It has been instrumental in driving forward the standard 
in the UK. Becta is clear that SIF has proven potential to deliver a wide range of benefits at the front 
line and at local and national levels.  

9.5 In July 2008, Becta, DCSF and DIUS published a ‘Statement of Intent’ regarding interoperability 
which stated that SIF was the direction of travel and a decision would be made by 2010. Following 
the release of the Statement of Intent there has been significant progress in the development and 
use of SIF as a vendor neutral architecture.  

9.6 The move to implement SIF in some local authority areas has seen an increase in demand for MIS 
suppliers to produce SIF agents for their software. Whilst some of these suppliers are involved in 
developing SIF agents for their own products, others rely on a third party to develop SIF agents for 
their product. The demand from local authorities for interoperable solutions has also seen some 
local authorities starting to look for alternative MIS solutions for their schools where there is no 
roadmap for SIF from their existing supplier.  

9.7 The dominant MIS supplier was initially unconvinced at a strategic level that SIF was the best 
available solution (citing security concerns).  However, continued effort by that supplier and other 
SIF members resulted in July 2010 in agreement on changes to the specification which will address 
the concerns that had been raised. 

9.8 The SIFA UK Community is growing and now is well established with an elected Board.  It has an 
agreed governance structure and working Groups have been formed to continue development of 
the standard. The SIFA UK website is live and quarterly meetings have been well supported by the 
community.  It is an excellent collaborative vehicle for stakeholders working together to develop SIF 
in the UK. Attendance at each event and membership are increasing year on year having risen 
from about 5 in 2006 to 60 in 2010. 

9.9 A business case for the adoption of SIF in the education sector was released in January 2009 and 
the UK data model has been continuously developed with annual releases of upgrades. There are 
implementations in Birmingham, Northern Ireland, London Grid for Learning (LGfL), South West 
Grid for Learning (SWGfL), Norfolk, East of England Broadband Network (E2BN), East Midlands 
Broadband Consortium (EMBC), Dudley, Sunderland, Cynnal, Cheshire East, Leeds and 
Warwickshire. 

Current view of suppliers  

9.10 All of the main MIS suppliers agree that a single standard for systems interoperability will soon 
become essential within the MIS market. However, views on SIF were found to vary across the 

Page 49



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 34 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

main suppliers. Many of the suppliers involved in the market review queried the time it is taking to 
implement. Around 50% of suppliers interviewed expressed concern regarding a lack of adoption of 
a common interoperability standard across the MIS market.  They argued that lack of adoption acts 
as a barrier to local authorities and schools changing MIS suppliers or selecting a combination of 
MIS products from different suppliers to deliver their overall solution, and believe that either SIF or 
a similar standard should be mandated.  

9.11 The Department has recently conducted a review of interoperability across the education sector, 
the findings of which are not yet in the public domain and some suppliers raised this as a concern 
creating further uncertainty in the market.  

Current view of Local Authorities  

9.12 Local authorities agreed that a single standard for systems interoperability would be of benefit 
although there was some confusion over what this would mean in practice and lack of 
understanding of the benefits and the ability of SIF to deliver them. Nevertheless, it was felt that the 
issue of interoperability would become more important and would be driven by the new 
government’s policy on additional academies and free schools.  During the review an interviewee 
from SSAT commented that in their view systems interoperability would help federations of 
academies in the transfer of data between their academies and the local authorities in which they 
are situated. 

9.13 It was also felt that communication should be improved regarding the status of interoperability, in 
order to allay any concerns and communicate the benefits. 

Becta’s assessment  

9.14 We have set out Becta’s view of the way ahead on the issue of interoperability in Section 10 of our 
Report. 

Page 50



 

September 2010  page 35 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

10 Addressing the challenges ahead 

The range of challenges ahead 

10.1 We have highlighted in our Report a range of challenges impacting on the marketplace for school 
MIS systems and support which has been estimated to be in the region of £550 million over a five 
year lifetime of this Parliament.  We set out below our recommended way forward in respect of: 

 Procurement Concerns 

 Rising Costs 

 Statutory Returns 

 Interoperability 

 Open Source 

 Effective Support 

Procurement concerns 

10.2 The legal review indicated the limited nature of the activities which were likely to be considered 
acceptable for procurements being categorised as software maintenance and seeking to use the 
“only supplier” exemption from a call for competition.  The key issue is likely to be that what is 
procured under the only supplier exemption cannot expand the scope of the software or the support 
services delivered under the original contract.   

10.3 In summary, our analysis of procurement practices has shown that many of the MIS systems in use 
were originally procured many years ago and have been continually updated since that date via the 
mechanism of annual maintenance.  Indeed about 50% of the local authorities who purchased 
support and maintenance from the dominant supplier purchased the original licence over 10 years 
ago. It is worth noting that many of those local authorities commented regarding the improvements 
in the quality of the software and services they currently received as compared to the position 
which pertained at the time of Becta’s 2005 report.  

10.4 However, the upgrades received since the original procurement are likely to have included new 
functionality and transitions to new technology platforms both of which our legal advice indicate are 
likely to fall outside the scope of available EU and UK procurement regime exemptions and thus 
should have been subject to the rigor of the full EU and UK procurement regulations. 

10.5 Whilst dissatisfaction with a supplier’s performance can be a reason to go to the market earlier than 
otherwise might be the case, sustained high levels of satisfaction do not remove the limitations as 
to what can be procured under available exemptions or alter the principles underpinning EU and 
UK competition law. 

10.6 The Market Study indicates that even more recent additional functional enhancements such as 14-
19 data and Web Based Access for teachers and parents have only been market tested in a 
manner consistent with EU and UK procurement obligations in a minority of occasions.  Indeed 
since Becta’s 2005 report there have only been 18 OJEU procurements for the provision of MIS 
products and services (including 5 where MIS was an element of a wider BSF procurement). 

10.7 Where a local authority can identify an EU compliant current contract the scope of its OJEU notice 
will be a key factor in determining what is acceptable. Where an original recent OJEU contract 
cannot be identified (circumstances categorised Grey in the Market Study) or where the processes 
used are recognised as being unlikely to be EU compliant (categorised as Red in the Market Study) 
local authorities are at risk from challenge under the recently introduced Remedies Directive.  
Overall about 80% of local authorities fall into one or other of these categories.  

10.8 It is considered crucial that in the light of the findings of this Report, all local authorities review their 
MIS procurement arrangements in advance of their next contract renewal to determine the status of 
their arrangements under EU and UK procurement law.   This urgent need is reflected in our 
recommendations.   

10.9 The legal advice is that the annual renewal of an MIS support contract is effectively the award of a 
new contract. We believe that local authorities can reduce the 6 month time period during which a 
challenge to such a contract can be made under the Remedies Directive, and remove the 
possibility of a finding of ineffectiveness, by the use of a VEAT notice.  Consideration of the use of 
VEAT notices is therefore reflected in our recommendations.   

Page 51



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 36 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

10.10 Local authorities will want to note that current OGC guidance does not extend to the implications of 
a finding of ineffectiveness on contract renewals and thus there is uncertainty regarding what 
impact it might have on the on-going right to use the software by schools. 

10.11 We also recommend that where local authorities intend to renew an MIS software maintenance   
agreement in the absence of confirmation that it is covered by EU compliant procurement 
procedures they should seek to reduce the risk of challenge by limiting their un-competed contract 
to the basic support permitted under the “only supplier” exemption.  An MIS supplier will be the 
entity best placed to verify that the scope of changes to its software under a support contract will 
not exceed what is permissible under the exemption.  Contracting entities should therefore consider 
seeking written confirmation from their MIS supplier that the services provided under a support 
contract awarded without a call for competition do not exceed what is permissible under the 
exemption. Clearly, where local authorities are acquiring such a limited support service it should 
cost less than a service which included product enhancements across a wide range of functional 
areas. Local authorities should therefore review the difference between these two services and 
negotiate cost reductions accordingly. 

Strategies for procuring MIS solutions 

10.12 It is clear that if an individual school or a local authority has a requirement for the provision of an 
MIS system on the basis that it wishes to receive, during the duration of its contract, functional 
enhancements and technology upgrades, and pay for them via an annual payment, then that is an 
entirely proper requirement.  Indeed many schools, local authorities and suppliers will see the 
benefit of such a holistic and strategic approach and will be able to justify entering into multi-year 
contracts for the provision of such a requirement. 

10.13 The issue is that such a requirement (including the requirement for annual enhancements) must 
have been competed for in a fair open and transparent manner in line with EU and UK procurement 
law and that the services being provided must remain within the scope and time span covered by 
the relevant  OJEU advertisement.  Problems regarding what enhancements can be delivered 
occur when the services fall outside the scope of the OJEU and the contracting authority then 
seeks to depend on the “only supplier” exemption to justify on-going contract renewals. 

10.14 The options by which schools and local authorities can move from operating in a non-compliant 
environment to a fully compliant environment are considered below. 

10.15 Additionally, it is the case that many schools will want to procure a collection of integrated modules 
from a single supplier, and there can be advantages in that approach.  The key is to require that the 
supplier offering the bundle of interrelated products is fully committed to an interoperability 
approach which will ensure that the contracting authority is not locked into that supplier for other 
areas of functionality in the longer term. However the competition law issues that relate to “bundling 
products” in the situation where there is a dominant supplier in a marketplace are complex and fall 
outside the scope of this report. 

Options to regularise the procurement position 

10.16 We have considered whether the procurement arrangements necessary to address the issues 
identified in the Market Study are best progressed at the level of: 

 Individual Schools 

 Individual Local Authorities 

 Collaboration on behalf of the wider School System. 

10.17 For each possible arrangement we assess its practicalities, costs and the extent to which the 
solution might be likely to provide legal certainty to schools and local authorities. 

Procuring at the level of individual schools 

10.18 We considered carefully whether in the light of the wide range of procurement issues identified via 
the Market Study the most appropriate way forward would be to recommend that local authorities 
end their role in the procurement of school MIS solutions and leave the matter to individual schools.  
We rejected that approach for the following reasons: 

Page 52



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 37 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

10.19 It would place considerable additional bureaucratic burdens on thousands of individual schools and 
would potentially result in many thousands of individual procurement exercises which would swamp 
the MIS marketplace. 

10.20 It would result in additional year on year costs for thousands of individual schools, as in many 
cases the cost of solutions procured at the individual school level would significantly exceed the 
cost of agreements negotiated by the local authority. Indeed the Market Study indicated that it 
expects such individual procurement cost to be “considerably higher”.  This is contrary to the 
Government’s policy focus on reducing costs and would be particularly unhelpful in the context of 
MIS systems where the Market Study indicates that costs are currently escalating at 6% year on 
year, even under the aggregated purchases currently in place at the local authority level. 

10.21 Assuming that the average primary/special/pupil referral unit would only need a limited market 
sounding exercise to identify its needs and appoint its MIS supplier, we estimate that the costs per 
primary school would be in the region of £3,600. This is based on a nominal 11 days effort at an 
average cost of £325 per day.  With 18,477 such schools the cost of this local procurement 
approach would be just under £67 million. 

10.22 Post primary schools would typically have more complex MIS requirements than other schools and 
we estimate their market testing costs per school to be £6,300 (based on 19 days effort at £325 per 
day). With 3,333 secondary schools this approach to procurement yields a total cost just under £21 
million.  The cost for an individual procurement approach across the primary, secondary and 
special sectors would therefore be £88 million. 

10.23 Additionally, the loss of aggregation in the individual school procurement model means that annual 
cost of MIS software would be likely to rise by about 20% generating further annual costs. 
However, individual schools may attract a modest discount for entering multi-year contracts.  
Overall, we estimate the software costs impact of local procurements to be approximately £31 
million over a 5 year lifetime of this parliament. The full cost of such a disaggregated approach 
would therefore be £119 million over 5 years (£88 million + £31 million). 

10.24 The legal advice is that there are many factors that would mitigate against successfully arguing that 
school MIS purchases can be “disaggregated” in the context of the EU thresholds and thus 
considered to be individual purchases.  Those factors include issues such as a local authority 
recommending products, supporting only certain products, identifying interfacing needs met only by 
a particular product, assisting in contractual or pricing negotiations in respect of a particular 
product. Thus the “disaggregated” approach lacks legal certainty unless local authorities desist 
from all these mitigating activities.  To do so would of course cause very severe inconvenience and 
disruption to many thousands of schools.  

10.25 Finally, we recognised that whilst there is benefit to be derived by allowing individual schools choice 
in relation to the MIS system they use, it does not follow that to exercise such choice 
individual schools have to establish the contracting framework through which the choice is 
exercised.  In summary, such multiple contracting vehicles would be hugely bureaucratic and 
unaffordable for the majority of schools.   

Procuring at the individual local authority level 

10.26 We also considered if recommending individual procurements by each single local authority might 
be the best way forward. This was based on an assumption that the establishment of such a single 
local authority wide OJEU procurement would consume just over 200 days of effort at a cost of 
£650 per day indicating a per authority cost in excess of £130,000.  Replicated across all local 
authorities in England this would yield costs in the region of £20 million. 

10.27 However, an OJEU compliant process would allow local authorities to enter multi-year contracts.  
The Market Study found that the one authority that had taken such a multi-year approach had 
generated savings of about 12%.  Replicating this across the system indicates that it could save 
about £25 million over 5 years.  Thus the net impact of individual procurements at the local 
authority level would be savings of £5 million over 5 years (costs of £20 million minus savings of 
£25 million).  

10.28 Also whilst the number of individual procurements under this model would be considerably less 
than under the individual school approach, it would still be likely to overwhelm the MIS marketplace 
and be extremely expensive.   

10.29 The question also arose as to whether any existing collaborative procurement agreements might be 
used to meet the needs of this marketplace.  Indeed during the Market Study a number of 
respondents queried if it were possible to use the existing OGC’s Buying Solution Software 

Page 53



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 38 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Applications Solutions – Bespoke Applications framework to meet their MIS needs. The Market 
Study further noted that one local authority had in fact used this OGC framework. 

10.30 However, it transpires that the only MIS supplier on this framework was the dominant supplier, and 
so in Becta’s view this would not represent a mechanism for testing competition in this marketplace. 
Indeed the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 specifically forbid a contracting authority from using 
a framework agreement improperly or in such a way as to prevent, restrict or distort competition. 

Procuring via a collaborative arrangement 

10.31 Under this model the Department would commission the establishment of national procurement 
arrangements which could be used by those local authorities and individual schools who did not 
wish to incur the costs and inconvenience of establishing their own separate procurement 
arrangements.   

10.32 However, final decisions regarding use of the arrangements (or otherwise) would remain at the 
discretion of individual local procurement entities. It would be important taking account of the policy 
focus on Academies and Free schools that whatever cost effective procurement arrangements 
were established such schools should have the freedom to use them if they so wished.  

10.33 The opportunity for significantly greater savings than those available by establishing procurements 
at the individual local authority level will flow from the establishment of a specific collaborative 
procurement arrangement (a framework) which takes account of the particular features of the MIS 
marketplace.   

10.34 Such collaborative arrangements (frameworks) provide the freedom for schools and local 
authorities to use them but place no obligation on them to do so.  We estimate that the initial cost of 
establishing such a framework would be between £400,000 and £500,000, and the cost of a call-off 
by all of the 152 local authorities to be about £5.5 million in total.  Thus the 5 year costs of 
establishing the arrangement would be about £6 million.   

10.35 Again the ability of local authorities to establish multi-year contracts is estimated to generate 5 year 
savings in the order of £25 million.  The net cost of this option is therefore a saving of about 
£19 million over 5 years, a significantly greater saving than that generated by procuring at 
the individual local authority level and some £138 million less expensive that the £119 
million cost of procuring at the individual school level. The establishment of specific 
framework arrangements is reflected in our Recommendations. 

10.36 It should be noted that this £138 million takes no account of any savings that may be derived as a 
result of the competitive pressures generated by establishing the framework.  An earlier framework 
in respect of the provision of Learning Services is estimated to have reduced unit costs to schools 
by more than 60%. 

10.37 Recognising the particular features of the schools’ MIS Marketplace, we recommend that such a 
national framework adopts a range of characteristics which have been updated from our 2005 
report and set out in detail in Annex 3.  In summary the principles which should underpin the 
contractual terms and conditions of the Framework Agreement should reflect the principles of 
effective choice, improved pricing visibility, minimum service levels regarding the quality and 
timeliness of software updates and support, and conformance to open technical and data standards 
including adherence to SIF.  

10.38 Were such a framework to also encompass options to allow for the purchase of a Learning Platform 
or a combined solution then further procurement economies of scale would be derived. 

Rising costs 

10.39 We noted that the Market Study indicated the year on year base cost to schools in England of 
acquiring maintaining and supporting their MIS systems was now in the region of £38 million to £44 
million and was increasing at the rate of 6% annually.  In the light of the current financial pressures 
facing schools and the nation generally we consider that the base cost and its current rate of 
increase will both be considered unacceptable.  

10.40 We also noted the view of the Market Study that significant cost reductions could be achieved from 
effective negotiation.  One local authority was cited as having saved £80,000 over three years (12% 
of the relevant spend).  The Market study commented that: 

“this ability to offer large discounts could be an indication that average market prices are high, 
which in turn could be a symptom of a lack of opportunity for competition in the market”. 

Page 54



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 39 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

10.41 We expect our recommended collaborative procurement approach (framework agreement) and the 
associated level of increased competition will drive forward and deliver significant cost reductions. 

10.42 The Market Study also found that there is a growing recognition from local authorities regarding the 
potential whole life savings that can be achieved from adopting a web enabled, supplier hosted 
MIS. Such offerings are likely to emerge with an open and competitive market environment driven 
by the recommended collaborative procurement approach. 

10.43 Whilst it noted that there are concerns around data security and issues in some areas with 
connectivity, the Market Study identified that appropriate guidance and improved competition will 
allay these concerns and that web based solutions will deliver real savings and operational 
efficiencies in the future. We believe any move to web based solutions would go beyond what 
would be acceptable under the only supplier exemption and should therefore be market tested in a 
manner compliant with EU and UK procurement law. 

10.44 In the current financial climate schools and local authorities should take a very robust view 
regarding the necessity for further functional improvements in the MIS systems now available. 
Whilst we recognise that there may, in limited circumstances, be a need for future functional 
enhancements, we believe that in current financial climate savings in this area could be found.  
Therefore, we recommend a very rigorous approach in this area focusing on reducing demand, and 
therefore costs, and clear visibility on pricing of future enhancements. 

10.45 Where local authorities have adopted our recommendation regarding a de minimis approach to 
software maintenance in the absence of an OJEU compliant contract we would expect the prices 
they pay to be consequently reduced to reflect this more basic service provision.  

10.46 Finally, it is also clear that a failure to address the issues identified under statutory returns will 
seriously impact the ability of schools, local authorities and suppliers to effectively address the cost 
reduction challenges. 

Statutory returns 

10.47 At the time of the 2005 report the number of mandatory statutory returns was 28 and since that time 
the number has risen to 41, an approximately 50% increase. There are also now some 86 
“optional” returns for which suppliers need to provide functionality.  

10.48 We recommend that the Department considers the advantages of immediately freezing the 
specification for Statutory Returns and instructing all its NDPBs to do likewise.  This is in the light of 
the level of costs associated with the Statutory Returns process, the current failure to find a solution 
regarding removing the consequential financial burden from schools, the need to reduce 
bureaucratic burdens on schools, and the need to find significant reductions in public expenditure.  
This freeze should ideally last for 5 years and should remove the need for MIS suppliers to invest 
further resources into this area resulting in a significant reduction in the annual charges suppliers 
make to schools, thus reducing the bureaucratic burden on schools and freeing up resources for 
the front line. 

10.49 We further recommend that the Department permits the freeze on Statutory Returns to be lifted 
only when the requesting party has mechanisms in place to allow those bodies applying to make 
changes (and not schools) to pay for the necessary costs of modifying the MIS system and 
collecting the data. The custom and practice whereby resources are deflected from the front line to 
meet the data requirements of the “centre” should end.  

10.50 To help inform the development of these mechanisms, suppliers should immediately be asked to 
provide more transparency regarding the cost to them of statutory returns and how this cost is 
passed on to their customers. Making this cost clear on customer invoices in the interim could also 
help to reaffirm the true cost of statutory returns and demonstrate to the front line the reduction over 
the period of the freeze. 

Interoperability 

10.51 One of the most significant areas of concern in the 2005 review focused on interoperability between 
MIS products. The continuing importance of this issue is well illustrated by the fact that the Market 
Study found that 25% of local authorities interviewed and 50% of MIS suppliers felt that it was 
important to have an interoperability standard mandated.

10.52 The Market Study states that SIF is a mature international standard used widely in US and 
Australia.  Additionally, SIF has of course been driven forward in the last five years by Becta and its 

Page 55



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 40 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

partners via the SIF Association, and its uptake facilitated by the Department’s 2008 “statement of 
intent”.  Whilst there are implementations in Birmingham, Northern Ireland, London Grid for 
Learning, South West Grid for Learning, Norfolk, E2BN, EMBC, Dudley, Sunderland, Cynnal 
Cheshire East, Leeds and Warwickshire, strategically its uptake has been very slow. 

10.53 Indeed it remains the case that SIF is still not universally applied within the UK market for MIS and 
LP functionality and there is additional concern that in the absence of a mandated requirement for 
SIF further fragmentation round approaches to interoperability could take place.  

10.54 We have made the point previously that it is likely that the challenges associated with both the new 
flexibilities and the sharper accountability envisaged by the Government will drive forward the need 
for relevant, reliable and timely tools, data and information at all levels of the education system.  
Therefore, we believe that there will be more reliance on interoperability, as learning platforms and 
other school based systems will increasingly need to seamlessly integrate with the school MIS 
systems and deliver data sharing with other establishments.     

10.55 We recommend that to assist schools in the effective use of ICT to deliver improved learning, to 
exercise choice and to reduce costs that the Department mandates an interoperability standard in 
the MIS and LP marketplace and that such a mandatory requirement should be in place within the 
next 12 months. This timeframe is broadly in line with the messages the Department communicated 
to the marketplace in 2008. 

10.56 We also recommend that communication to the MIS industry sector, local authorities, Regional 
Broadband Authorities and schools should be improved regarding the status of interoperability, in 
order to allay any concerns, communicate the benefits and drive forward uptake. 

The role of Open Source in MIS 

10.57 We required that the Market Study include within its scope a consideration of the extent to which 
Open Source solutions were playing or could play a role in the provision of MIS products and 
services to schools.  The Market Study reported:  

“It should also be noted that we investigated the possibility of open source MIS products in the 
market. We spoke to one supplier who has developed such a solution, however this is only 
currently in use in one school in England, it is not currently freely available and the supplier is 
currently trying to find backing for its further development. We therefore conclude that open source 
is not a currently viable option within the MIS market.” 

10.58 We believe that in the medium to long term Open Source solutions can play a role in the MIS 
marketplace.  It is clearly the case that a fully functional institution-wide MIS solution would take 
many years to develop.  However, where interoperability was a mandatory requirement in the MIS 
and LP marketplace we consider that Open Source solutions could be developed which would 
supplement the functionality available via existing proprietary MIS solutions and provide a further 
avenue of competition and choice in relation to new areas of functionality. However, such an 
opportunity is dependent on the increased interoperability we have recommended along with the 
adoption our recommendations on Statutory Returns. 

The role of Learning Platforms in delivering MIS functionality 

10.59 Over the last few years there has been increasing convergence between aspects of the 
functionality found in a “traditional” MIS product, and the functionality emerging in some Learning 
Platforms (LP) products.  Ultimately this trend has the possibility to provide enhanced competition 
in the MIS market space (and vice versa), but this competition would be dependent on the 
improved interoperability which would flow from the mandating of SIF, and the resulting framework 
agreement taking account of the MIS and LP synergy. These preconditions are reflected in our 
recommendations. 

The provision of support for MIS systems 

10.60 The arrangements for the provision of MIS support were not a detailed focus of the Market Study 
and did not fall within the scope of the online survey.  However, the 20 local authority interviews did 
explore the nature of the MIS support arrangement in place and the overwhelming model (in 75% of 
those interviewed) was that the support was provided via a local authority support team.  In many 
cases such support was “recharged” to schools.   

Page 56



 Becta | School management information systems and value for money 2010 

September 2010  page 41 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

10.61 Our 2005 report recommended a move to a more aggregated model of support, but the 2010 
interviews found that in only two cases the support arrangements spanned more than one authority. 
The current Market Study estimated the cost of MIS support to be about £65 million annually.  

10.62 It is clear that MIS support teams provide valuable expert services to schools across a range of 
areas which depending on the size and nature of the team would encompass technical support, 
business systems support and importantly, advice on the strategic use of MIS software to improve 
institutional management and teaching and learning.  However, in many cases the teams are small 
in size and face considerable challenges in providing support across the entire range of functional 
areas that comprise a modern MIS system.  

10.63 It is likely that MIS support provision will come under additional cost pressures in the light of the 
financial pressures being faced by schools and local authorities.   We believe the best way to 
ensure the on-going provision of such important support is by encouraging local authority support 
teams to come together and form a shared service arrangement.   

10.64 Such an approach will yield economies of scale and provide via larger teams a wider and deeper 
range of functional expertise than would be available if support is replicated across every individual 
local authority in what is typically relatively small teams.  There will of course be organisational and 
managerial issues to be resolved in such an approach, but we consider the benefits to be 
considerable and thus such a shared service approach is reflected in our recommendations.   

Page 57



 

September 2010  page 42 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Annex 1 – Modular definition of an MIS

Atkins was asked to arrive at a modular definition for an MIS in order for them to conduct research around 
the functionality available from MIS suppliers and what local authorities are actually buying. For this purpose 
Atkins used the following functional elements: 

 Admissions 

Management 

 Assessment & 

Attainment 

Management 

 Attendance 

Management 

 Behaviour 

Management 

 Curriculum Planning 

 Data Transfer 

 Examinations 

Management 

 SEN Management 

 Student Personal 

Records 

 Statutory Returns 

 Timetable 

Construction &View 

 Timetable / Academic 

Staff cover 

 Options Management 

(end of Key Stage 3) 

 Workforce 

Management 

 Finance 

 Asset Management 

 Data Mining, Trend Analysis & 

Predictions 

 Web Access to appropriate 

data for Teachers, Governors 

& Parents 

 Student progress Report 

Generation 

 14!19 Partnership Data 

Sharing 

 Library / Resource 

Management 

 

Page 58



 

September 2010  page 43 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Annex 2 – Categorising procurement behaviour 

The online survey identified a number of possible responses to questions relating to how a product was 
procured.  Those responses were: 

1. Extension to an existing OJEU procurement 

2. New EU complaint procurement OJEU tender 

3. Procurement via existing Framework Agreement 

4. Unsure of procurement approach 

5. Procured prior to Local Government reorganisation 

6. Not Market Tested, procured from existing supplier 

7. Not Market Tested, procured from new supplier 

8. Other (please specify) [Usually re!categorised by ATKINS based on textual response] 

9. Procured Directly by Schools. 

In order to simplify the findings emanating from the survey we categorised these responses as follows: 

Green – Responses 1, 2 and 3.  We suggest that such approaches are more likely to compliant with EU and 
UK legislation than others, although of course the extent to which they are actually complainant will depend 
on the facts of the particular case including the wording of the associated OJEU notice. 

Grey – Responses 4 and 5.  These categories allow for situations where the LA is unable to indicate the 
basis on which the relevant functional area was procured.  Recognising that in some cases that may have 
been as a result of local government reorganisation a specific category (category 5) for that occurrence was 
provided. 

Red – Responses 6 and 7.  We suggest that such approaches, whereby a requirement was not market 
tested are most unlikely to be judged as compliant with EU and UK legislation. 

We omitted from our calculations responses using category 9.  We adopted this approach because it in 
essence indicated that the particular area of functionality was procured directly by schools.  As our survey 
was primarily concerned with the procurement practices of LAs, we considered this approach appropriate. 
We recognised that in some cases the basis of the agreement used by individual schools to procure their 
software may in fact have flowed from actions of the LA, but we consider the simplification to be acceptable. 

Page 59



 

September 2010  page 44 of 44 
© Becta 2010 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Annex 3 – MIS framework agreement - characteristics 

On Licensing, Interoperability and Data Access 

Ensure that a change to the legal status of a school (for example to Academy Status) does not require an 
otherwise licenced school to have to re-licence its existing MIS software thus creating a double charge to 
the public purse.

Ensure products must conform to the System Interoperability Framework (SIF) Interoperability Architecture 

Ensure that regardless of how the MIS infrastructure is managed, owned, or provided ownership of data 
rests with the schools and not the MIS supplier. The framework should not permit the charging for access to 
data for other software products purchased by the school. 

On Service Levels 

Ensure contract management arrangements are such as to allow schools and local authorities to hold their 
suppliers to account for issues such as the cost, quality and timeliness of the software.  It is recognised that 
such issues are significantly impacted by the statutory returns process which would need to be resolved 
before suppliers could give such assurances to their customers. In the absence of such resolution no 
prudent supplier could of course give such contractual assurances. 

Ensure suppliers must offer a choice of service levels to customers, including service levels which 
incorporate a service credit regime. 

On Pricing 

Ensure suppliers must establish a mechanism by which customers have clear visibility of the forward price of 
the software. A minimum of two years’ rolling visibility will be required, increasing to three years once the 
recommended freeze on statutory returns is implemented. 

Ensure that suppliers must establish proportionate pricing whereby customers who opt to have an element 
of their MIS provision via an alternative provider will see costs from their incumbent supplier reduce 
proportionately. 

Ensure that discounted prices are available for longer term contracts. 

Ensure that suppliers must ensure that customers are advised regarding the basis on which any annual 
charge is based and varied, and the proportion of that charge which relates to the various services which it 
encompasses. 

On Choice 

Ensure supplier responsibilities to assist when schools or local authorities wish to migrate from one MIS 
supplier to another for all or part of the MIS provision. 

On Statutory Returns 

Ensure that the framework is established in such a manner as to allow for the possibility that the Department 
(or any of its NDPB’s) may wish to commission changes necessary to allow MIS products used in schools to 
meet changed requirements in respect of statutory returns and for the cost of those changes to be met by 
the body commissioning the changes. 

Page 60



© Copyright Becta 2010

You may reproduce this material, free of charge
without specific permission, provided you are no
or material gain. You must reproduce the materi
in a misleading context If you are republishing tin a misleading context. If you are republishing t
others, you must acknowledge its source, copyr
publication. While great care has been taken to 
in this publication is accurate at the time of publi
responsibility for any errors or omissions. Where
referred to in this publication, no recommendatio
product by Becta is intended, nor should it be inf

Becta
Millburn Hill Road
Science Park 
Coventry CV4 7JJ

, in any format or medium 
ot reproducing it for financial 
al accurately and not use it 
he material or issuing it tohe material or issuing it to
ight status and date of 
ensure that the information 
ication, we accept no 
e a specific product is 
on or endorsement of that 
ferred.

Page 61



REPORT TO: 
 

Executive Board Sub Committee 

DATE: 
 

9th February 2012 

REPORTING OFFICER: 
 

Strategic Director – Communities 
 

PORTFOLIO: Neighbourhood, Leisure & Sport 
 

SUBJECT: 
 

Leisure and Recreation Services Scale of 
Charges 
 

WARD(S) 
 

Borough-wide 

 
 

1.0 
 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1  To set out the proposed admission charges for 2011/12 for the 
Council Libraries, The Kingsway Learning Centre, Leisure Centres, 
Halton Athletics Track and the Brindley Arts Centre. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION: That the charges as proposed be 
approved. 
 

3.0 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

3.1 Proposed charges for 2012/13 are attached as an appendix. 
 

3.2 The Brindley 
 
Charges for the Brindley are for 2013/14. Charges for 2012/13 were 
approved last year. These charges have some changes to 
consider:- 
 
i) It is proposed that the previous separate charging structure 

for Halton Community Groups is retained but simply offers a 
10% discounted rate on the standard community hire rate. 
Costs for Halton groups would increase modestly including 
costs to local dance schools. 
 

ii) Charges for rehearsal time show increases to charges, this is 
because the days on which different hire rates apply have 
been changed to: - 
 

• Monday to Thursday, replacing Monday to Friday. 
• Friday and Saturday, replacing Saturday and Sunday 
• Sunday has been combined with the Bank Holiday rate 

to reflect more accurately the costs of operating on 
these days. 

 

Agenda Item 5aPage 62



3.3 Athletics Track 
 
At the request of Wade Deacon High School charges will be held at 
last years prices. 
 

3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leisure Card 
 
The leisure card gives additional discounted admission charges to 
specific groups on casual admissions. Charges are discounted as a 
percentage of the full adult admission charge. The current 
percentage discount is 50%. This is one of the most generous 
discount rates in the country. The purchase price of the card has 
also remained unchanged since the introduction of the card and 
needs to rise to reflect increased administrative costs. It is therefore 
recommended that: - 
 
i) The discount reduces to 40%. 
ii) The eligibility criteria are reviewed next year.  
iii) The annual purchase price of the Halton Leisure Card rises 

from £2.00 to £4.00 
 

3.5 Libraries 
 
It is proposed to increase the fines for the late return of library books 
to 15p/day from 10p/day and to reduce the maximum fine from 
£4.00 to £2.00.  
 

4.0 
 

POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 
 

None identified.  
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 Given significant savings over future years it is recommended that 
officers work with Members to closely review all fees and charges 
for 2013-14. 
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR THE COUNCIL’S PRIORITIES 
 

6.1 Children & Young People in Halton  
 

The Council’s charging policy operates in favour of children and 
young people by offering lower charges to encourage participation 
and the constructive use of leisure time.                    
 

6.2 Employment, Learning & Skills in Halton  
 

Charges cover access to learning and training. These opportunities 
are offered at subsidised rates or free of charge to residents. 
 

6.3 A Healthy Halton 

Page 63



 

Active participation in cultural and leisure activities are a key pillar of 
the boroughs health strategy to reduce the incidence of chronic 
illnesses caused by poor lifestyle choices.  
 

6.4 A Safer Halton  
 
Constructive and diversionary activities offered in this area impact 
on anti social behaviour and contribute to a safer Halton. 
 

6.5 Halton’s Urban Renewal 
 
None identified. 
 

7.0 RISK ANALYSIS 
 

7.1 Income from charges is part of the council’s overall budgeting 
strategy, new charges must therefore be implemented on 1st April 
2012.  
 

8.0 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES 
 

8.1 The Council’s charges are structured and are at a level designed to 
enable the use of services by everyone in the community 
irrespective of individual circumstances. The new level of charges 
have, been set at a level which continues to facilitate this.  
 

9.0 LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS UNDER SECTION 100D OF 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 
 

 None under the meaning of the Act. 
 

 

Page 64



PROPOSED SCALE OF CHARGES 

1st April 2012 – 31st March 2013 
 

LIBRARY SERVICE 
 

 

LOAN CHARGES    PRESENT   PROPOSED                               
 

Talking Books    £1.20 for 3 weeks  No change  

Leisure Card Holders         60p for 3 weeks  70p for 3 weeks 
 

Compact Discs    £1 per week   No change  

Leisure Card Holders         50p per week   60p for 3 weeks 

  
 

DVDs      £2.70 for 1 week  No change   

Leisure Card Holders        £1.35 for 1 week  £1.60 for 1 week 
 

Learning for Life Collection 

Non-book items:     £1.20 for 3 weeks  No change           

Leisure Card Holders:       FREE    No change 
 

 

 

FINES ON OVERDUE ITEMS 
 

Books, Talking Books, CDs, and Learning for Life Collection  

Adult tickets     10p per item per day   15p per item per 

day  

maximum £4.00 per item maximum £2.00 per item 

Children’s tickets    No charge   No change 

Young Persons tickets (16-18)  No charge   No change 

      maximum £4.00 per item 

Leisure Card Holders    5p per item per day   

maximum £4.00 per item maximum £2.00 per item 
 

DVDs               50p per day   No change 

Leisure Card Holders                   25p per day   30p per day   

      maximum £8.00 per item        
 

 

In addition an administrative charge of 30p (which includes postage) is payable when 

an overdue reminder is sent. Children’s books borrowed on an adult ticket are subject 

to the adult fine rate. 
 

 

 

RESERVATIONS 

For items currently in stock   FREE    No change  

Leisure Card Holders         FREE    No change 

 

For items which have to be bought for stock  

£1.60 per item   £1.80 per item 

Leisure Card Holders        80p per item   £1.00 per item 

 

For items which have to be obtained through Inter Library Loan or British Library 

Page 65



£5.00 per item   £7.00 per item  

            Leisure Card Holders        £2.50 per item   £4.00 per item  

 

 

 

 

 

 

PRESENT   PROPOSED 

PERSONAL COMPUTER BOOKINGS 
 

Discs:       £1.00 each   No change 

Leisure Card Holders        50p each   60p each 
 

USB 2GB Memory stick:   £8.00    No change  

 Leisure Card Holders        £7.00    No change  
         

Printing:  

Black & White:   10p per page    No change 

  Colour:         20p per page    No change 

Leisure Card Holders  

Black & White:   5p per page    No change 

 Colour:         10p per page   No change 
   

PHOTOCOPIES    A4 - 10p per sheet  No change 

      A3 – 20p per sheet  No change 
 

MICROFILM / MICROFICHE COPIES 20p per sheet   No change 

          

FAX 

50p per sheet received No change 

To UK:      £1.00 first sheet   No change 

25p subsequent sheets No change 

To Europe:     £2.00 first sheet  No change 

50p subsequent sheets No change 

International:     £3.00 first sheet  No change 

£1.00 subsequent sheets No change 

LOST TICKETS 

Adults:      £1.50    No change  

Children and Leisure Card Holders:       75p    No change  
 

ROOM HIRE 
 

1. Community Groups 

Meeting Room 2 £8.00 per hour £8.50 per hour 

Meeting Room 3 £8.00 per hour £8.50 per hour 

Meeting Rooms 2 & 3 £16.00 per hour £17.00 per hour 

Meeting Room 4 £3.50 per hour £4.00 per hour 

Meeting Room 5 – ICT Suite £8.00 per hour £8.50 per hour 

Meeting Room 6 £6.00 per hour £6.50 per hour 

Meeting Room 7 £4.50 per hour £5.00 per hour 
  

Block bookings 

Less 15% discount in respect of 10 or more bookings at any one time 

Equipment 

Page 66



Training kitchen /Laptops – available by arrangement with the Manager £3 per 

session 

Free Lettings - New activities and groups initiated by the Manager may, in their 

initial period  

of operation, receive a maximum of 4 free lettings to establish the groups. 

Subsequent bookings should then be considered a community user paying the 

appropriate rate. 

  Private and Commercial Groups 

The above charges increased by 25% and 50% respectively and cumulatively 

Performing Rights – 5% of the total booking charge (excluding any discount). 

Other  

Other than those in 1 or 2, by negotiation with the Manager 

Page 67



2011.00 increase 2012/13
SWIMMING

Adult 3.00 0.20 3.20
Junior 1.50 0.20 1.70
HLC 1.50 0.40 1.90
JN Lessons(10 lessons) 34.00 2.50 36.50
SN Lessons(10 lessons) 35.50 2.50 38.00

SPORTSHALL

Adult 3.40 0.20 3.60
Junior 1.70 0.10 1.80
HLC 1.70 0.45 2.15

SPORTSHALL BLOCK BOOKINGS

Half Hall BB Hire 25.50 1.00 26.50
Adult admit fee 2.00 0.10 2.10
Junior admit fee 1.00 0.05 1.05
HLC admit fee 1.00 0.05 1.25
Squash (40 min) 3.20 0.10 3.30
Junior Squash 1.60 0.05 1.65
Casual Gym/Aerobics 4.60 0.20 4.80
Junior Fitness 2.30 0.10 2.40
Health Suite 5.70 0.10 5.80
Creche per hour. 1.30 0.10 1.40
Table Tennis 2.25 0.05 2.30
Junior Table Tennis 1.10 0.05 1.15

.
SPECTATOR

Adult 0.50 0.00 0.50
Junior 0.25 0.00 0.25
HLC 0.25 0.05 0.30

SPECIAL EVENTS

KLC

Half Hall Booking 38.50 1.50 40.00 3.90
Full Hall Booking 77.00 3.00 80.00 3.90
Gymnasium 30.00 1.00 31.00 3.33
Creche 23.00 1.00 24.00 4.35
Swimming Pool 57.50 1.50 59.00 2.61
Small Pool 43.00 1.00 44.00 2.33
Studio 1& 2 28.00 1.00 29.00 3.57

RSP

Swimming Pool 48.00 1.00 49.00 2.08

BROOKVALE RECREATION CENTRE

Swimming Pool 51.50 1.50 53.00 2.91
Sportshall Adult 64.50 2.00 66.50 3.10
Sportshall Junior 37.00 1.00 38.00 2.70
Half Hall Booking - Adult 33.00 1.00 34.00 3.03
Half Hall booking - Junior 18.50 0.50 19.00 2.70
Gymnasium - Adult 27.00 1.00 28.00 3.70
Gymnasium - Junior 18.50 0.50 19.00 2.70
Studio 24.00 0.50 24.50 2.08
ATP

Adult Casual 36.00 1.00 37.00 2.78
Junior Casual 18.00 0.50 18.50 2.78
Block Booking
Adult 31.50 1.00 32.50 3.17
Junior 15.75 0.50 16.25 3.17
Hockey Match
Adult 46.00 2.00 48.00 4.35

Page 68



HALTON ATHLETICS ACADEMY  
 

At Wade Deacon High School 
 

Hire charges 2012/13 
 
 

Description Charge  
2011/12 

Proposed 
2012/13 

Track use per person, per session* £4.00 
 

£4.00 
 

Club hire with floodlights (including changing) £50.00 
 

£50.00 
 

Club hire without floodlights (including changing) £34.60 
 

£34.60 
 

Athletics meetings – per hour 
a. With floodlights 

Up to 200 people 
Over 200 people 
 

b. Without floodlights 
Up to 200 people 

           Over 200 people 
 

 
 

£62.40 
£72.60 

 
 

£43.40 
£54.00 

 

 
 

£62.40 
£72.60 

 
 

£43.40 
£54.00 

 
Additional toilet hire (per toilet per day) £82.50 £82.50 

 
* Session – up to 2 hours. 
All group charges per hour 
 
 
 

Page 69



THE BRINDLEY 
Proposed Hire Fees from 1 April 2013 – 31 March 2014 
 
The Theatre 
 
The performance/8 hour price includes 2 technicians (increasing to 3 technicians for an 8/12 
hour get in) and the use of backstage facilities and theatre in house lighting and sound 
systems and for performances a duty manager, front of house staff, security officer (eves, 
weekends and bank holidays) and box office staff. All other services are charged separately.  
 
The rehearsal price includes 2 technicians, use of the backstage facilities, in house lighting 
and sound systems.  

 
  Mon–Thurs 

1 performance 
or up to 8 hrs 

Fri/Sat 
1 performance 

or up to  
8 hours 

Sunday & Bank 
Holidays 

1 performance 
or up to 8 hours 
 

Rehearsal 
performance  

4 hours or part 
thereof 

Commercial Hirers Current 
 
Proposed 

£1,040 
 

£1,070 
 

£1,150 
 

£1,185 
 

£1,270 
 

£1,300 
 

Not offered 
 

Community Hirers 
 
 
 
10% discount for Halton 
community hirers (on 
basic hire only) 

Current 
 

Proposed 
 

 

£660 
 

£685 
 
 
 
 

£750 
 

£775 
 
 
 
 
 

£860 
 

£885 
 
 
 
 

Mon – Thurs 
 £285 to £300  

 
Fri & Sat 

£335 to £350 
 

Sun & B Hols h 
£435 to £400 

 

 
The Studio 
 
Price includes 1 technician (where technical support is included) and the use of backstage 
facilities and theatre in house lighting and sound systems and for performances duty 
manager, front of house staff, security officer (evenings, weekends and bank holidays) and 
box office staff. All other services are charged separately. 

 
 Mon – Thurs Fri – Sat Sunday &  

Bank Holidays 
 

Per 8 hour performance with technical 
support 

£335 to £345 
 

£390 to £400 
 

£450 to 465 
 
 

Per 4 hour rehearsal with technical 
support 

£195 to £200 
 

£220 to £225 
 

£250 to £255 
 
 

Per 2 hour hire without technical 
support 

£60 to £65 
 

 

£85 to £90 
 

£115 to £120 
 

Per 4 hours dressing room facility 
 
Per 8 hours dressing room facility 
 
Per 12 hour dressing room facility 

£120 to £125  
 

£240 to £245 
 

£335 to £345 
 
 

£170 to 175 
 

£340 to £345 
 

£390 to £400 
 

£230 to 235  
 

£450 to £465 
 

£450 to £465 
 

 
  

Page 70



 
 

 
ADDITIONAL HIRE CHARGES  
 

Sales, Marketing & Admin 2012/13 2013/14 

Inclusion within the Brindley season Brochure  £110 £115 

Inclusion in the Brindley’s Monthly Newspaper  £55 £57 

Brindley to manage ticket sales 35p per ticket 35p per ticket 

Programme/Merchandise sales by hire company 10% 10% 

Programme/Merchandise sales by Brindley staff 20% 20% 

Admin charge for orders made on behalf of hirer 10% of total 
order value 

10% of total 
order value 

 
 

Technical  
 

2012/13 
(Weekly hire – 3 
days or more) 

2013/14 

Additional technicians £14 per hour 
 

£14.50 per hour 
 

Pre rig (sound, lighting or stage) £300 £310 Mon – Fri 
£350 Sat, Sun & 
BH 

Use of the orchestra pit £130 £135 

Smoke Machine  
 

£16 per day 
£32 weekly 

£16.50 per day 
£33 weekly 

Haze Machine 
 

£16 per day 
£32 weekly 

£16.50 per day 
£33 weekly 

Radio Mics 
 

£27 per mic 
£81 weekly 

£28 per mic 
£84 weekly 

1400 Lumen Projector – Studio  £32 per day 
£100 weekly 

£33 per day 
£105 weekly 

5000 Lumen Projector – Theatre  £99 per day 
£315 weekly 

£102 per day 
£325 weekly 

Film Screen – Studio £21 per day 
£63 weekly 

£22 per day 
£65 weekly 

Cinema projector & Screen £158 £163 

Media Package – projector, dvd, cd & laptop  £48 per day 
£144 weekly 

£50 per day 
£150 weekly 

Harlequin Dance Floor £63 per day 
£189 weekly 

£65 per day 
£195 weekly 

Steinway Grand Piano – (Theatre only)  £110 
£330 weekly 

£115 
£340 weekly 

Steinway Grand Piano tune 
(Theatre only) 

Monday – Friday 
£110 
Saturday & 
Sunday £140 

Monday – 
Friday £115 
Saturday & 
Sunday £145 

Touring PA – without technical support £35 per day 
£105 weekly 

£36 per day 
£108 weekly 

Touring Lights – without technical support £45 per day 
£135 weekly 

£46 per day 
£139 weekly 

 
 

Page 71



Front of House & Hospitality  2012/13 2013/14 

Additional Front of House Stewards £14 per hour £14.50 per hour 

Post show bar £45 – Waived if 
bar sales over 
£130 

£45 – Waived if 
bar sales over 
£130 

Catering Prices on 
application 

Prices on 
application 

 

Page 72



Agenda Item 6a Page 73
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted


	Agenda
	3a Treasury Management 2011/12 3rd Qtr October-December
	4a Procurement of the Licence for the School Information Management systems
	Appendix 1 9.02
	Appendix 2 09.02

	5a Leisure and Recreation Services Scale of Charges
	proposed library service charges 12-13 v4
	Leisure Prices 2012-13.xls
	Halton Athletics Track charges.doc
	Brindley Hire Charges.doc
	Brindley additional charges.doc

	6a Debt Write off - St Helens Canal remedial works

